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Directors’ Report 

 

1. Group Overview 

 

Founded in 1969 by Nikolaos Katsos, Pharmathen soon outgrew its origins in Athens, Greece to become 

one of the leading European pharmaceutical groups in the field of complex generics and innovative 

technologies. With a core of very successful research and development operations, Pharmathen has 

evolved into a vertically integrated group with worldwide presence and operations.  

 

Following the acquisition of Pharmathen in 2015 by funds advised by BC Partners the strategy of the Group 

focused on expanding further its international Business to Business (B2B) operations. With this target the 

Group in 2017 divested its Business to Consumer (B2C) operations and applied a Netherlands based B2B 

operating model and structure based on strong relationships with its marketing partners.  

 

As a result, Pharmathen Global B.V. became the leading operating company of the Group, being 

responsible for setting the strategic targets, deciding on the allocation of the R&D resources of the Group 

and its commercial policy. It also exploits commercially the products developed by the Group in the 

international markets by forming long lasting business relationships with leading marketing partners that 

distribute the products of the Group worldwide. The development of the international business is 

supported by experienced staff which is employed by Pharmathen Global B.V. and its subsidiary 

Pharmathen UK Ltd (based in Hertfordshire, UK).  

 

The research and development operations of the Group are carried out by Pharmathen SA, which is also 

the commercial arm of the Group for sales in Greece and to some niche international marketing partners. 

Having its place of business in Greece Pharmathen SA provides administration services to all the entities 

of the Group and supplies Pharmathen Global B.V. with products and research services. 

 

The main manufacturing sites of the Group are located in Northern Greece (the plant is owned by 

Pharmathen International SA and has successfully passed in 2017 an FDA audit of its oral solids and 

injectables facility) and in the greater Athens area (the plant is owned by Pharmathen SA). In addition to 

these facilities the Group has long standing business contracts with reputable Contract Manufacturing 

Organisations which manufacture some of the products offered by the Group. 

 

The Group applies vigorously best practice GMP and GTP procedures in order to ensure its products are 

of the highest quality and are delivered safely to markets. These procedures are constantly monitored by 

the Corporate QA department of the Group, which is also responsible for inspecting the quality and 

manufacturing facilities of the pharmaceuticals related suppliers of the Group. 
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2. Operational highlights of 2019 

During 2019 the Group expanded its customers and products base securing at the same time new strategic 

agreements with world-class marketing partners for the commercialization (in the future) of various of its 

new generation products currently under development. 

 

The Group, committed to its strategy towards research on new technologies and products, completed 

within 2019 the launch of 7 new products and continued with the development of its products pipeline as 

planned. 

In preparation for the new EU directive on Pharmaceuticals the Group installed serialisation equipment 

in its manufacturing facilities (including CMOs) ahead of the Feb. 9, 2019 deadline. To ensure the timely 

manufacturing of its products and to address potential shortages and delays in the international KSM and 

API supply markets the Group increased stock levels of raw materials, which had a temporary impact on 

its working capital. Stock levels are regularly monitored and expected to be reduced in 2019 once supply 

market conditions improve. 

Further to the above the Group signed the sale agreement for the Adventus API operations in India and 

continued to outsource the Internal Audit function to a reputable external audit firm. 

2.1 Financing facilities  

In July 2017 the Group entered into an International Facility Agreement for €170m with international 

financial institutions, comprising a syndicated loan of €120m (with a bullet payment after 6 years) and a 

Revolving Credit Facility of €50m, and two Bond Loans with Greek financial institutions for the total 

amount of €50m (with a 6-year maturity and a 30% amortization schedule).  

 

The proceeds were used to repay previously existing credit facilities, pay the balance of deferred 

consideration owed by Pharmathen Global BV to the Vendor (Katsos family) and provide funding for the 

expansion of the manufacturing facilities of the Group. 

 

3. Summary of Group Financial Performance for the period 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019. 

Consistently with previous years the Group in 2019 achieved its budget targets and significantly improved 

its performance versus the previous year, both in terms of growth and profitability. In particular: 

• The volume of product SUs sold increased by 3% y-o-y, while the average price per unit also 
increased by 14% y-o-y. 

• Net Revenue increased c.17% y-o-y to €224m 

• The gross profit margin of products (excluding API) remained to 41%, similar to 42% in 2018, 
despite the fact it was adversely affected by the increased production costs linked to the 
expanded manufacturing capacity of the plants owned by the Group. 
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• Investment in Research & Development projects amounted to €37m similar to prior year, 
reflecting the Group’s continued focus to enrich its products pipeline. 

• Selling and distribution expenses increased by 52% y-o-y to €17.6m, mainly on the back of higher 
commissions linked to 3rd party sales, while administrative expenses slightly increased y-o-y by 8% 
to €20.m, demonstrating the operating leverage in the business. 

As a result, EBITDA increased +25.3% y-o-y to €65.5m compared to €52.3m in the previous year.  

 
As at year-end the liquidity ratio amounts to 1.68 compared to 1.62 per end of 2018. Per end 2019 the 
solvency ratio amounted to 55% (2018: 53%). 
 
Corporate Social Responsibility Highlights 2019 
 
In recognition of its ongoing endeavor to serve the needs of its customers and shareholders, and to 
provide full and transparent information on its Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) actions, 
Pharmathen received a number of important awards and distinctions in 2019, including: 
 

• “Salus Index Award” by NEW TIMES PUBLISHING. Distinctions were given based on companies’ 
Business Growth, Research, Innovation and CSR initiatives 

• “True Leaders” award by ICAP. The distinctions were given based on companies’ economic 
performance 

• “Diamonds of the Greek Economy” award by NEW TIMES PUBLISHING, category “Business 
Excellence”. This award was received at the annual forum for successful companies of Pharma 
industry based on economic performance data of the industry and the companies covering the 
last 3 years 

• “Protagonists of the Greek Economy”, award by Direction Business Network, category “Business 
Extroversion”. Distinctions were given based on companies’ turnover and earnings before 
interest and taxes 

 
2020 Outlook 
 
In the context of the Group Strategic Plan for the period 2018-2023, the Group’s Board has set the 

business and financial directions and objectives for 2020 Budget to the Group subsidiaries. 

In this context, the Group aims to achieve a double-digit growth at both Net revenue and EBITDA (after 

adjusting for one off items) levels. 

 

The Group financial performance is expected to remain solid, consistent with the five year Business Plan. 

The Group will continue to implement its R&D spend plan for the development of new products as well 

as its capital expenditure plan aiming at the enhancement of capacity in its production facilities and the 

achievement of further production cost efficiencies. 

 

During the year headcount is expected to increase by c.100 employees (net); these additions are required 

for regulatory & labor legislation reasons and to service the increased capacity levels of the plants (mostly 

for the new products expected to be launched). 
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Major strategic goals of the Group in 2020 are as follows: 

❖ To continue the successful development of new products 

❖ To accelerate the new LAI plant capex 

❖ To launch new products in EU and US 

❖ To continue to provide regulatory and logistical support to our customers so that they are able to 

receive goods and invoicing from Pharmathen Global Holding BV 

 

In line with the Group’s undertakings in the context of the International Facility Agreement, the 

assignment of the international B2B customers’ contracts will continue to grow during 2020. 

 

Effects of the corona virus (Covid-19): 

 

As explained in the ‘Uncertainty related to the effects of the corona virus (Covid-19) on our business’ note 

and ‘events after the reporting period’ note in the financial statements, the beginning of 2020 is 

characterized by uncertainties in the global macro-economic environment. Given the current social and 

economic circumstances, we see increased uncertainties following the global pandemic Covid-19 

outbreak and market volatility, but the short-term impact in our business in the first 3months of 2020 so 

far is limited. 

 

• To date we have not experienced a decline in revenues for the first 3 months of 2020 compared 

to the same period in 2019 and we have not opted for government assistance until now. The 

Covid-19 outbreak has not affected the Group’s results for the first 3 months of 2020 as evidenced 

by the growth of its Net Revenue (+8%, +22%) compared to budget 2020 and last year 

respectively, this is consistent with the growth in revenue of our business for the last 3 years. Our 

Order Book for the rest of the year is currently stronger than previous years. The current Order 

Book represents 99% coverage of forecast product net revenue for the next 5 months (May to 

Sep-20). Adjusted EBITDA increased by (+6%, +2%) compared to budget 2020 and last year 

respectively. 

• None of the Group’s production facilities / sales locations have been closed. As a precautionary 

measure we decided to keep c. 1/3 of our production employees (Greece) in reserves for the last 

week of March 2020 and the first 3 weeks of April 2020, this resulted into less production capacity; 

considering the success of the Greek Government to control Covid-19 and that none of our 

workers has been infected so far we decided in April 2020 to gradually bring our production 

facilities back to full capacity. 

• So far, we did not have any indications that would require us to proceed with an impairment of 

our receivables and inventories. All receivables due for collection until March 2020 were collected 

in full at their usual credit terms. About 50% of our trade receivables are insured and about 20% 

is financed by Non-Recourse-Factoring. 

• All PPE Capex including R&D projects are currently on track with our long-term business plan. If 

this pandemic persists it is possible that we will decide to delay such expenditure and a few of our 

clinical studies or dossier applications might be delayed by the authorities. To address this 
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scenario, we will divert the focus of our teams from in-vivo developments to in-silico 

developments. 

• So far, we have not experienced any noteworthy disruption to our supply chain. About half of our 

APIs have more than one supply sources and about 30% can be sourced from different countries. 

We source from China c.12% and India c.59% of our total API purchases. In the short term we 

could face logistical delays (airfreight) in receiving some raw materials from India; we estimate 

the impact of such delays on our 2020 EBITDA to be c. €0.4m (0.5% of our annual Budget). If the 

Covid-19 crisis is prolonged and API producing countries close their borders to the rest of the 

world, future shortages or disruptions in the supply of API and other raw materials cannot be 

excluded. However, over the last 6 months Pharmathen has managed to increase its inventory 

substantially, reaching c.4 months of production requirements on average.  

• We have recently seen that the EU is taking various measures to support the uninterrupted supply 

of pharmaceuticals across Europe by establishing transportation Green Lanes at customs and 

injecting substantial liquidity into the economy. Closure of pharmaceutical companies by the 

authorities is considered to be unlikely as pharmaceuticals production is classified as a 

systematically relevant core industry world-wide. 

• Based on the current and forecasted financial position and results, loan covenants calculations 

provide sufficient headroom and forecasts indicate no breach is anticipated at the next 

measurement date on 31 December 2020. In addition, we have secured unutilised financing 

facility of €42 million and secured a new loan of €30 million in April 2020. These facilities are 

intended to finance the capex and R&D initiatives of the Business Plan and provide capital for 

general corporate purposes. If the current situation persists we can reallocate these facilities for 

the financing of operating activities. 

However, depending on the development of this unprecedented pandemic and the actions various 

countries might take in the future, we cannot rule out the possibility of a temporary disruption in our 

supply chain, production facilities, revenue generation and cash collections from customers. 

Management is closely monitoring the evolution of this pandemic, focusing on how it may affect the 

Group in the short and long-term and has put in action an appropriate response plan that is being regularly 

reviewed and enhanced if required.  

Management will continue to monitor and assess the ongoing developments and react accordingly. 
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4. Group strategy  

The Group’s Management is setting the pace for the Group strategy planning and implementation.  

The Group is operating via a B2B model in pharmaceuticals generics markets and has a global presence in 

more than 80 countries. 

 

The Generics (Gx) market is expected to grow by c. 5% p.a. over the 2015-2020 period as the pressure for 

affordable healthcare and the strong patent expiry pipeline drives generic penetration from 20% to 24% 

over the same period. Within the pharmaceuticals market, the Group target markets that are large, highly 

defensible, specialty niches. In each of the segments, the Group has established a leading development 

position offering the most advanced and extensive product list in the industry, with the majority of the 

projects already partnered. The specialty generics market is expected to experience faster growth of c. 

10-15%+ due to strong pipeline of product patent reaching their expiry. 

 

The Group’s strategic vision to become a leading long acting specialty developer is based upon five pillars:  
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5. Risk management and control systems 

In order to manage the main risks faced by the Group, offer reasonable assurance that the Group’s 

objectives can be realized, that the financial information is reliable and the Group complies with applicable 

laws and regulations, the Group Management has the responsibility to develop, implement and operate 

adequate risk management and internal control systems. Based on internal evaluations carried out by the 

Management and departmental senior managers and audits from external parties, those systems are 

reviewed, updated and continuously improved as part of an ongoing process within the Group. 

In the context of the Group reorganization completed last June and the commencement of the operations 

of the Group where both sales support as well as administration services are offered to the Group by 

Pharmathen UK Ltd and Pharmathen SA on the basis of Service Level Agreements, additional procedures 

and controls were implemented to safeguard the economic and tax substance of the Group and its 

operations in the Netherlands. 

During the first quarter of 2020, the Group Management renewed the appointment of a recognized Audit 

service firm as the outsourced Group Internal Audit Service provider that will report directly to the 

Executive Committee of the Group.  

The Group has already in effect a Remuneration committee to ensure remuneration arrangements 

support the strategic aims of a business and enable the recruitment, motivation and retention of senior 

executives. 

With respect to the financial reporting process, the risk management and internal control system is 

designed to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records of the Group properly reflect 

transactions necessary to permit the preparation of management reports and financial statements that 

are consistent and in compliance with legal regulations and International Financial Reporting Standards, 

and free of any material misstatements. The system also provides reasonable assurance that receipts and 

expenditures of the Group entities are only made by persons authorized to do so and that assets are 

safeguarded. As part of this system, various control procedures have been set such as, application of four 

eyes principle, chart of authority, reconciliations and other ad hoc checks.  

Every month, a Management Committee meeting takes place that reviews the monthly Group financial 

results, risk performance and developments. This is followed by an Operational Review meeting where 

Group performance is presented to the shareholders. Regular Board of Directors meetings take place to 

provide strategic guidance and approve recommendations mainly related to B2B Business development 

and critical Group operational matters, R&D investments, Financing and M&A activity. 
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On the basis of the relevant risk appetite of the Group at each designated risk area, the Group’s risks and 

uncertainties set out below are managed in the context of the Group risk management process and 

policies whose procedures are summarized as follows: 

❖ Evaluation of risks related to the Group’s activities. 

❖ Methodology planning and selection of any suitable actions for risk reduction/insurance or 

avoidance based on Group’s risk appetite by type of risk. 

❖ Execute risk management action plan in accordance with the procedure approved by Group 

Management. 

 

The Group applies vigorously best practice GMP and GTP procedures in order to ensure its products are 

of the highest quality and are delivered safely to markets. These procedures are constantly monitored by 

the Corporate QA department of the Group, which is also responsible for inspecting the quality and 

manufacturing facilities of the pharmaceuticals related suppliers of the Group. 

 

 

5.1    Environmental matters 

The Group responds with responsibility to issues related to the protection of the environment and the 

saving of natural resources. The environment and its protection is one of the highest priority for the 

management of the Group. There may be further opportunities to achieve cost-savings through 

implementing activities that also have a positive environmental impact e.g. reducing energy and water 

use. As a Group whose activities involve handling and being in close proximity to chemicals and hazardous 

substances, health and safety is an issue, which is essential to manage. Community engagement is 

important in environmental matters as it is across all of Pharmathen’s business. Its efforts to become even 

more environmentally friendly include the energy efficient design of its buildings and facilities, the 

recycling of materials and paper, and the recycling of all ink cartridges and electrical equipment. Finally, 

there is a cooperation with the company Polyeko SA, which is responsible for the management of 

industrial waste. 

 

 

5.2   Strategic Risk 

We are exposed to a number of strategic risks including the ineffective implementation of Group’s 

strategy and business plan that may result in unfavorable developments in areas that have a direct or 

indirect impact to the realization of projected financial results and position of the Group such as: adverse 

regulatory changes, delays in the timeline of new molecules development, spikes in the costs of raw 

materials, senior management turnover or any number of other large-scale changes that might have an 

adverse impact on the timely realization of strategic goals and on expected economic benefits. 

In order to mitigate the strategic risk, the Group has developed a system of internal control procedures 

along the following lines: 
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❖ It has developed a well-defined business strategy framework and objectives with risk areas 

integrated in it. 

❖ Determine the Group risk appetite as being moderate to high with respect to strategic risk, aiming 

creating a right balance between risk and long term reward; leveraging on its long term developing 

hard skills and competencies of its R&D team to focus on specialised, difficult to produce 

technologies such as LAIs and PF Ophthalmics with significant growth potential and limited 

competition 

❖ Establish key performance indicators and tight monitoring for all critical product and business 

development stages  

❖ Identify major risks that could cause the variability from strategic goals and measure them on a 

forward looking basis by studying and implementing when necessary alternative scenarios. 

❖ Maintain integrated reporting and monitoring vs. budget and forecast; every month there is a 

Management Committee meeting that analyses the monthly Group performance and 

developments followed by an Operational Review meeting where Group performance is presented 

to the shareholders. 

In addition to the above mentioned risk management process, it should be noted that the Group’s 

business strategy throughout its lifetime has been targeting the development of a vertically integrated 

operational B2B model. This model based on robust IP and long term supply contracts with a well-

diversified portfolio of big pharma players, creating high switching costs and barriers to entry in the 

targeted markets and thus reducing the strategic risk with respect to market demand and competition. 

In parallel, the Group has heavily and consistently invested in developing its R&D technical expertise and 

competencies throughout its lifetime. This investment has resulted in a well-established R&D organisation 

with a long track-record in successful development of finished dosage forms and APIs. Given that pivotal 

BE studies are the most critical and costly step in generic development process, the Group can 

demonstrate a track record of average success rate (1st attempt) of 86.8% over the years, while 

historically no project has ever been discontinued due to technical failure, with 100% of all dossiers that 

have been submitted receiving approval. 

With respect to compliance and regulatory risk management the Group has a prudent approach aiming 

at minimizing these risks. Regulatory and Compliance departments have put in place robust enterprise-

wide compliance management control systems and procedures designed to reduce risk, enhance 

management controls, and ensure compliance. 

 

 

5.3   Financial Risk 

The Group has a low financial risk appetite that mainly relate to the Group’s borrowings, purchases and 

trade receivables as follows: 
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5.3.1 Interest rate 

Following the Group refinancing in August 2017, the interest rate has been set with reference to the 6-

month Euribor, the Group has been exposed to changes in market interest rates mainly through its bank 

borrowings.  

The Group Management has a prudent approach to the exposure of interest rate risk, by assessing the 

level of risk and proceeding with a hedging arrangement if necessary.  

 

5.3.2 Foreign Exchange 

The group makes payments mainly in US dollar for certain API purchases and operating expenses, on 

average $ 45-50m per annum. Group Management has decided to leave the exposure unhedged in 2018 

and occasionally lock in the profits by entering into forward contracts. 

The Group Management is constantly monitoring its receivables and payables exposure to foreign 

currencies and following the analysts’ reports with respect to major foreign currency transactions it is 

entering into. Given the available cash balance of the Group, the Management reserves the option to 

follow natural hedging practices for any unusually high temporary or permanent exposure to foreign 

currencies in order to hedge against adverse FX rate fluctuation. 

The group does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations. 

 

5.3.3 Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to which the Company and the Group are exposed 

is the carrying value of financial assets. 

All of group cash is retained in high credit quality financial institutions. A significant portion of total cash 

is held outside Greece, the majority of which is deposited in ABN Ambro Bank in Netherlands which been 

affirmed with an A+ rating. Most of cash is denominated in Euro. For 2019 Group is planning to diversify 

its deposit base further by opening new bank accounts with international banks. 

Trade accounts receivable could potentially adversely affect the liquidity of the Group. However, due to 

the large number of customers and the diversification of the customer base, there is no concentration of 

credit risk with respect to these receivables. 

The Group has established specific credit policies under which customers are assessed for 

creditworthiness and there is an effective management of receivables in place both before and after they 

become overdue and doubtful. In monitoring credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit 

risk characteristics, aging profile and existence of previous financial difficulties. Customers that are 



 

 

14 Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. Amstelveen 

characterized as doubtful are reassessed at each reporting date for the estimated loss that is expected 

and an appropriate impairment allowance is established. 

In addition to the above the Group assigns to financial institutions a proportion of c. 30-35% of foreign 

receivables invoices which are considered factoring without recourse. Apart from this, a significant 

amount of the remaining foreign receivables (in excess of 80%) are also insured with credit insurance 

organizations. 

 

5.3.4 Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 

sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 

incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. The Group monitors its 

liquidity risk on an ongoing basis. The liquidity planning considers the maturity of the financial assets (e.g. 

accounts receivable and other financial assets) and projected cash flows from operations. 

The main business and liquidity risks that result from the current uncertain situation regarding Covid-19 

are explained in the ‘2020 Outlook’ section. 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 

 

 

The above Consolidated statement of Profit and Loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

  

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Revenue 11 224,083,320         191,230,284       

Cost of sales 12 (128,465,653)        (110,535,358)      

Gross profit 95,617,666           80,694,926         

Other income / expenses 13 3,946,267             2,704,363           

Administrative expenses 14 (20,030,804)          (18,492,557)        

Selling and distribution expenses 15 (17,590,072)          (11,510,034)        

Research and development expenses 16 (27,244,299)          (24,791,233)        

Operating profit 34,698,758           28,605,466         

Financial income 18 3,473,390             1,774,143           

Financial expenses 19 (11,553,012)          (11,534,735)        

Profit before income taxes 26,619,136           18,844,874         

Income tax 20,34 (2,962,592)            (659,696)             

Profit for the year from continuing operations 23,656,544           18,185,178         

Profit/ (loss) for the year from discontinued operations (333,063)               (247,517)             

Profit for the year 23,323,481           17,937,661         

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent 23,323,481           17,937,661         

Non-controlling interests -                        -                      

23,323,481           17,937,661         

Amounts in €
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Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended December 31, 2019 

 

 

 

The above Consolidated statement of Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 

accompanying notes. 

 

 

 

 

Amounts in € 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Profit for the year 23,323,481             17,937,661             

Other comprehensive income / (loss): 

Exchange differences on translations of foreign operations 152,652                  (363,993)                

Net other comprehensive income / (loss) to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: 152,652                  (363,993)                

Other comprehensive income / (loss) not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Re-measurement (losses) on defined benefit plans (note 33) 29,548                    (163,770)                

Income tax effect (note 34) (7,092)                    47,493                    

Net other comprehensive loss not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: 22,456                    (116,276)                

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 175,109                  (480,270)                

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 23,498,590             17,457,391             

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 23,498,590             17,457,391             

Non-controlling interests -                         -                         

Total 23,498,590             17,457,391             
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Consolidated statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2019 

  
 

The above Consolidated statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

ASSETS Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Non-current assets

Property plant and equipment 24 83,974,461             79,047,711           

Intangible assets 25 241,690,632           230,279,747         

Right-of-use assets 4,926,029               -                        

Goodwill 26 212,142,360           212,142,360         

Other non-current assets 27 2,273,139               1,918,606             

Deferred tax assets 2,109,212               1,920,128             

Total non-current assets 547,115,833        525,308,552      

Current assets

Inventories 28 66,479,781             56,810,924           

Trade accounts receivable 29 39,114,785             36,013,827           

Other receivables 29 23,185,955             29,193,035           

Cash and cash equivalents 30 14,928,418             18,589,060           

143,708,939        140,606,846      

Assets held for sale 21 -                          767,300                

Total current assets 143,708,939        141,374,146      

TOTAL ASSETS 690,824,771        666,682,698      

EQUITY & LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 31 

Issued capital 32,181,967             32,181,967           

Share premium 271,457,706           271,457,706         

Other reserves 7,843,725               6,943,823             

Other components of equity (1,590,607)              (1,743,259)            

Retained earnings 69,198,203             46,856,168           

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 379,090,994        355,696,405      

Non-controlling interests 80,575                    80,575                  

Total equity 379,171,569        355,776,980      

Non-current liabilities

LT Interest - bearing loans and borrowings 32 158,620,297           163,000,409         

Provision for staff retirement indemnities 33 2,329,911               2,128,174             

Lease liabilities 24 3,806,266               -                        

Deferred tax liabilities 34 61,571,934             58,999,105           

Total non-current liabilities 226,328,408        224,127,688      

Current liabilities

Trade accounts payable 35 43,507,041             49,267,715           

Contract Liabilities 3,061,821               4,497,216             

Lease liabilities 24 1,241,167               

Short-term loans 32 8,000,000               -                        

ST Interest - bearing loans and borrowings 32 1,500,000               1,000,000             

Income tax payable 590,936                  448,113                

Accrued and other current liabilities 36 27,423,830             31,271,845           

85,324,794          86,484,889         

Liabilities directly associated with assets Held for Sale 21 -                          293,142                

Total current liabilities 85,324,794          86,778,031         

TOTAL LIABILITIES 311,653,202        310,905,718      

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 690,824,771        666,682,698      

Amounts in €
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Consolidated statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended December 31, 2019 

 

  

The above Consolidated statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 

Amounts in €  Share Capital 
 Share 

Premium 

 Other 

Reserves 

 Retained 

Earnings 

 Other 

Components of 

Equity 

 Total 
 Non Controlling 

Interests 
 Total Equity 

Balance January 1, 2018 32,181,967    271,457,706   6,173,261      29,701,346         (1,379,266)             338,135,014   80,575                   338,215,588         

Profit for the year -                   -                     -                   17,937,661           -                           17,937,661        -                          17,937,661              

Other comprehensive income -                   -                     -                   (163,770)               (363,993)                  (527,763)            -                          (527,763)                 

Taxes on other comprehensive income directly attributable to equity -                   -                     -                   47,493                  -                           47,493               -                          47,493                     

Total comprehensive income -                   -                    -                   17,821,385         (363,993)                17,457,391      -                          17,457,391           

Subidies Received -                   -                     104,000            -                        -                           104,000             -                          104,000                   

Transfer from share capital to distributable reserves -                   -                     666,561            (666,561)               -                           -                     -                          -                          

Balance  December 31, 2018 32,181,967    271,457,706   6,943,823      46,856,168         (1,743,259)             355,696,405   80,575                   355,776,980         

Balance January 1, 2019 32,181,967    271,457,706   6,943,823      46,856,168         (1,743,259)             355,696,405   80,575                   355,776,980         

Profit for the year -                   -                     -                   23,323,481           -                           23,323,481        -                          23,323,481              

Other comprehensive income -                   -                     -                   29,548                  152,652                   182,200             -                          182,200                   

Taxes on other comprehensive income directly attributable to equity -                   -                     -                   (7,091)                   -                           (7,091)                -                          (7,091)                     

Total comprehensive income -                   -                    -                   23,345,939         152,652                 23,498,591      -                          23,498,591           

Subidies Received -                   -                     (104,000)          -                        -                           (104,000)            -                          (104,000)                 

Transfer from retained earnings to other reserves -                   -                     1,003,903         (1,003,903)            -                           -                     -                          -                          

Balance  December 31, 2019 32,181,967    271,457,706   7,843,725      69,198,203         (1,590,607)             379,090,994   80,575                   379,171,569         
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Consolidated statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 

 

 
 

The above Consolidated statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Operating activities

Profit before income taxes from Continuing operations 26,619,136         18,844,874        

(Loss) before income taxes from Discontinuing operations (141,146)             (224,407)            

Non - cash adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 24 8,240,734           4,792,076          

Amortisation of intangibles 25 22,577,055         18,973,523        

Impairment of receivables 27, 29 307,115              26                      

Impairment of tangible and intangibles assets 25 534,870              650,612             

Finance income 18 (3,426,584)          (1,868,948)         

Finance costs 19 11,548,212         11,533,832        

Provision for obsolete inventory 28 (485,605)             203,931             

Provision for staff retirement indemnities 33 231,285              66,307               

Operating profit before working capital changes 66,005,073         52,971,826        

(Increase)/Decrease in:

Inventories 28 (9,183,252)          (24,347,227)       

Trade accounts receivable and other receivables 29 2,592,316           (7,655,100)         

Increase/(Decrease) in:

Trade and other accounts payable 35 (9,666,457)          21,939,032        

Income tax paid (647,438)             (1,258,404)         

Net cash flows from operating activities 49,100,241         41,650,127        

Investing Activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 24 (11,873,488)        (13,914,042)       

Purchase / development of intangible assets 25 (34,505,792)        (37,456,037)       

Net cash flows used in investing activities (46,379,280)        (51,370,079)       

Financing activities

Subsidies received -                      104,000             

Repayment of borrowings 32 (1,000,000)          -                     

Proceeds from borrowings from financial institutions 32 8,000,000           -                     

Payment of finance costs (11,911,025)        (9,378,425)         

Lease Payments 24 (1,431,210)          -                     

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (6,342,235)          (9,274,425)         

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,621,274)          (18,994,377)       

Opening Cash and cash equivalents balance of Continued operations: 18,589,060         37,622,899        

Opening Cash and cash equivalents balance of Discontinued operations: 79,518                40,054               

Closing Cash and cash equivalents balance: 15,047,304         18,668,576        

Attributable to Continuing Operations: 14,928,418         18,589,060        

Attributable to Discontinued Operations: 118,886              79,518               
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1. General information 

 

Activities: 

Pharmathen Global Holding BV (the “Company”) was founded by Pharmathen Holding 4 Ltd. on April 26, 

2017 in Amstelveen, the Netherlands with an initial issued and paid up capital of €20K. 

Upon the completion of the Group Reorganization Plan in June 2017, the Company became the sole 

shareholder of Pharmathen Global BV, a pharmaceutical company active in the marketing of generics with 

international B2B customers. Pharmathen Global BV was established on October 13, 2016 as a subsidiary 

of Pharmathen Global Ltd with an initial issued and paid up capital of €100K. In the context of the Group 

Reorganization plan concluded in June 2017, Pharmathen Global BV became the sole owner of 

Pharmathen SA. 

Pharmathen Global Holding BV has its registered office at 9 Van Heuven Goedhartlaan, 1181LE, 

Amstelveen. The registration number at the Chamber of Commerce is 68644507. 

The parent of the Group is the company Pharmathen Holding 4 Ltd. and the ultimate parent company of 

the Group is BC Partners (www.bcpartners.com) with a participation of 80% in the Group. 

Following the acquisition of Pharmathen SA by BC Partners the new Board of Directors of the Group 

decided to expand the Group internationally and increase the presence of its trading operations outside 

Greece as well as providing adequate financing to support the future growth of the Group and refinance 

its borrowing facilities with more favourable terms.  

To achieve this the Board of Directors initially decided to reorganize the business model of the Group in 

such a way that its subsidiaries in Greece would be responsible to develop and manufacture the products 

while their parent company (at that time Pharmathen Global LTD, UK) would be responsible to market 

and sell these products to B2B customers internationally. Under this business model, Pharmathen Global 

LTD would employ all B2B sales personnel of the Group, expand its sales force with new personnel, 

negotiate and finance all new sales contracts with international B2B customers and assigned all previously 

existing B2B trading contracts with international customers of Pharmathen SA for finished products. 

However, in June 2016, following the decision of the UK to exit the EU, the Board of Directors decided to 

implement the abovementioned reorganization via an entity domiciled elsewhere in the EU and not in the 

UK. Specifically, two new subsidiaries under Pharmathen Holding 4 Ltd. were incorporated in Netherlands, 

the first in 2016 under the name Pharmathen Global BV and then after, in 2017, the second under the 

name Pharmathen Global Holding BV. In June 2017, following a series of transactions all trading assets 

and liabilities of Pharmathen Global LTD have been transferred (sold at their book value) to Pharmathen 

Global BV, which in effect became the successor of Pharmathen Global Ltd and the parent company of 

the Pharmathen SA Group. In the absence of specific IFRS guidance on business combinations under 

common control, the Group decided to apply the predecessor accounting policy in order to reflect in a 
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true and fair manner the substance on these transactions, i.e. to use the aforementioned method and 

treat Pharmathen Global BV as if it was the entity that initially acquired Pharmathen SA Group in 2015. 

The consolidated financial statements of Pharmathen Global Holding BV and its subsidiaries (collectively, 

the Group) for the year ended December 31, 2019 were approved by the Directors on April 30, 2020. 

Uncertainty related to the effects of the corona virus (Covid-19) on our business: 

Since January 30, 2020 when the WHO declared the outbreak of Covid-19 as a Public Health Emergency 

of International Concern our Group has taken various proactive steps in order to protect its people and 

secure its business continuity.  

The actions taken focused, inter-alia, on protecting the health of our employees and their families, 

maintaining our sales orders pipeline, overcoming potential supply chain issues and maintaining the 

manufacturing capacity of the Group.  

In the preparation of the financial statements, the future impact of the global pandemic Covid-19 

outbreak has been considered as part of the adoption of the going concern assumption. Over the year 

ended 31 December 2019 the profit after taxation of the company amounts to EUR 23.3 million, with a 

relating cash flow from operating activities amounting to EUR 49 million and an equity position of EUR 

379 million, which is considered healthy. 

So far, we have not experienced any noteworthy disruption as described in the ‘2020 Outlook’ section of 

the Directors’ Report. However, depending on the development of this unprecedented pandemic and the 

actions various countries might take in the future, we cannot rule out the possibility of a temporary 

disruption in our supply chain, production facilities, revenue generation and cash collections from 

customers. In particular, for a short period of time we kept a portion of our manufacturing workforce in 

reserves due to Covid-19, although in April 2020 we decided to gradually bring our production facilities 

back to full capacity.  

We have recently seen that the EU is taking various measures to contain the impact of this virus and 

support the uninterrupted supply of pharmaceuticals across Europe by establishing transportation Green 

Lanes at customs and injecting substantial liquidity into the economy. Furthermore, closure of 

pharmaceutical companies by the authorities is considered to be rather unlikely as pharmaceuticals 

production is classified as a systematically relevant core industry world-wide. 

Pharmathen is in a strong position to address the current uncertainties; over the past few months it has 

built up a significant inventory base of c. 3-4 months of raw materials stock on average. Based on the 

current and forecasted financial position and results, loan covenants calculations provide sufficient 

headroom and forecasts indicate no breach is anticipated at the next measurement date on 31 December 

2020. We have secured unutilised financing facility of €42 million and secured a new loan of €30 million 

in April 2020. These facilities are intended to finance the capex and R&D initiatives of the Business Plan 

and provide capital for general corporate purposes. If the current situation persists, we can reallocate 

these facilities for the financing of operating activities. We have not opted for government assistance until 
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now. All receivables due for collection until March 2020 were collected in full at their usual credit terms. 

About 50% of our trade receivables are insured and about 20% is financed by Non-Recourse-Factoring.  

Our manufacturing facilities continue producing and we are in direct contact with the relevant authorities 

to assist them in fighting this pandemic by producing various pharmaceutical products they request from 

us (e.g. disinfectants). In addition, we maintain direct contact with our suppliers and customers in order 

to ensure our products reach the end users on time; the indications we have so far is that our Order Book 

is currently stronger than previous years. The current Order Book represents 99% coverage of forecast 

product net revenue for the next 5 months (May to Sep-20). 

Finally, we have not been aware of any cases of Covid-19 infection among our employees that could affect 

our production and trading capabilities as of today. Management is closely monitoring the evolution of 

this pandemic, focusing on how it may affect the Group in the short and long-term and has put in action 

an appropriate response plan that is being regularly reviewed and enhanced if required.  Whilst uncertain, 

we do not believe, however, that the impact of the Covid-19 virus would have a material adverse effect 

on our financial position or liquidity. Therefore, the Company continues to adopt a going concern 

assumption as the basis for preparing its financial statements. 

 

2. Basis of preparation and adoption of IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as endorsed by the EU 

and the statutory provisions of Part 9, Book 2, of the Dutch Civil Code.  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and they are 

presented in euros (EUR) which is the Company’s operating and reporting currency. All the subsidiaries of 

the Group present their financial statements in euros, except for Pharmathen UK Ltd. (GBP) and Adventus 

India (Indian Rupee, INR). 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of accounting estimates 

and assumptions. Additionally, it requires management’s judgments during the implementation process 

of the Group’s accounting policies. The estimates and assumptions are based on management’s best 

knowledge in relation to the current circumstances. The consolidated financial statements are presented 

in euro and all values are rounded to the nearest EUR except when otherwise indicated. 

Areas which require the greatest level of judgment or are of great complexity or where those estimates 

and assumptions have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements 

are analysed in Note 7. 
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3. Basis of Consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all 

subsidiaries controlled by the Company directly or indirectly. Control is achieved when the Group is 

exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to 

affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, 

and only if, the Group has: 

- Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 

of the investee) 

- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

-The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 

are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. 

 The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared as of the same reporting period as the parent 

company, using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances, transactions and any 

intercompany profit or loss are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. Subsidiaries are fully 

consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated 

from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. 

 

4. Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention, unless stated otherwise. All 

amounts in the notes to the financial statements are stated in Euros, unless otherwise stated. 

 

Foreign currency translation 

i. Functional and presentational currency 

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are 

presented in Euros, which is the functional and presentation currency. 

ii. Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the 

dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented 

in the statement of comprehensive income, within finance costs. 
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Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and 

liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

iii. Group companies 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into euros at the rate of 

exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange 

rates prevailing at the dates of transactions.  The exchange differences arising on translation for 

consolidation are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that foreign 

operation is recognized in the income statement. 

 

5. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

 

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations 

Certain new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued that are 

mandatory for periods beginning on or after 1.1.2019. The Group did not early adopt any of these 

standards. 

Standards and Interpretations effective for the current financial year 

The following standards and interpretations apply for the first time to financial periods commencing on 1 

January 2019. The Group’s evaluation of the effect of these new standards, amendments to standards 

and interpretations is as follows: 

IFRS 16 “Leases” 

IFRS 16 has been issued in January 2016 and supersedes IAS 17. The objective of the standard is to ensure 

the lessees and lessors provide relevant information in a manner that faithfully represents those 

transactions. IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets 

and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. 

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor 

continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of 

leases differently.  

The group has adopted IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019 but has not restated comparatives for the 2018 

reporting period, as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the standard. The reclassifications 
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and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the opening balance 

sheet on 1 January 2019. For the effect of adoption IFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 refer to note 42. 

IFRS 9 (Amendments) “Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation” 

The amendments allow companies to measure particular prepayable financial assets with so-called 

negative compensation at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income if a 

specified condition is met instead of at fair value through profit or loss.  

IAS 28 (Amendments) “Long term interests in associates and joint ventures” 

The amendments clarify that companies account for long-term interests in an associate or joint venture, 

to which the equity method is not applied, using IFRS 9.  

IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over income tax treatments” 

The interpretation explains how to recognise and measure deferred and current income tax assets and 

liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. IFRIC 23 applies to all aspects of income tax 

accounting where there is such uncertainty, including taxable profit or loss, the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities, tax losses and credits and tax rates. 

 

Standards and Interpretations effective for subsequent periods 

The following standards and interpretations have been issued but are not mandatory for annual financial 

periods ending on 31 December 2019. 

IFRS 17 “Insurance contracts” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021) 

IFRS 17 has been issued in May 2017 and supersedes IFRS 4. IFRS 17 establishes principles for the 

recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts within the scope of the 

Standard and its objective is to ensure that an entity provides relevant information that faithfully 

represents those contracts. The new standard solves the comparison problems created by IFRS 4 by 

requiring all insurance contracts to be accounted for in a consistent manner. Insurance obligations will be 

accounted for using current values instead of historical cost. The standard has not yet been endorsed by 

the EU. 

 

IFRS 3 (Amendments) “Definition of a business” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2020) 

The amended definition emphasises that the output of a business is to provide goods and services to 

customers, whereas the previous definition focused on returns in the form of dividends, lower costs or 

other economic benefits to investors and others. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

 

IAS 1 and IAS 8 (Amendments) ‘Definition of material’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2020) 
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The amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should be applied by including in the 

definition guidance which until now was featured elsewhere in IFRS. In addition, the explanations 

accompanying the definition have been improved. Finally, the amendments ensure that the definition of 

material is consistent across all IFRS. 

 

IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (Amendments) ‘Interest rate benchmark reform’ (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2020) 

The amendments modify some specific hedge accounting requirements to provide relief from potential 

effects of the uncertainty caused by the IBOR reform. In addition, the amendments require companies to 

provide additional information to investors about their hedging relationships which are directly affected 

by these uncertainties. 

 

IAS 1 (Amendment) ‘Classification of liabilities as current or non-current’ (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2022) 

The amendment clarifies that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current depending on the 

rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the 

entity or events after the reporting date. The amendment also clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers 

to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. The amendment has not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

 

These amendments do not have any impact on the Group. 

 

 

6. Summary of significant accounting policies 

6.1 Property, plant and equipment 

Land held for use in production or administration is stated at cost. As no finite useful life for land can be 

determined, related carrying amounts are not depreciated. All other property, plant and equipment are 

carried at acquisition cost or manufacturing cost less subsequent depreciation and impairment losses. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 

the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component 

accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are 

charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

• Buildings: 32 years 

• IT equipment: 5 years 

• Machinery and equipment: 15-30 years 

• Motor vehicles: 9 years 
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• Furniture and fittings: 7 years 

• Other equipment: 8 years. 

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted 

prospectively, if appropriate.  An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable 

amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 6.5).  

Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference 

between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognized in the income 

statement within “other income” or the relative expense function. 

6.2 Internally generated drugs 

Expenditure on research is expensed as incurred.  

Internally generated drugs arising from development are recognized if, and only if, an entity can 

demonstrate all of the following: 

(a) The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 

(b) Its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

(c) Its ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 

(d) How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other things, the 

entity can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the intangible asset or the intangible 

asset itself or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset; 

(e) The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development 

and to use or sell the intangible asset; 

(f) Its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development. 

Internally generated drugs and patents are stated at historical cost less subsequent amortization and any 

accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the useful 

economic lives, to a period of 10 - 15 years. Costs that are directly attributable to identifiable and unique 

drug products controlled by the Group are recognized as part of intangible assets. Directly attributable 

costs include materials, staff costs of the drug development team and other specific, direct expenses and 

overheads necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner 

intended by management. Amortization of the assets begins when development is completed and the 

asset is available for use. Costs incurred after regulatory approval are insignificant. 

Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditure is 

recognized in the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. 
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Software Acquired 

Software acquired is stated at historical cost less subsequent amortization and any impairment. 

Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the useful economic lives, not exceeding a 

period of 5 years. Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognized as an 

expense as incurred. 

Other intangible fixed assets 

Other intangible fixed assets, which include Property rights, patents, software and brand names, are 

stated at historical cost less subsequent amortization which is calculated using the straight-line method 

over their useful economic lives, not exceeding a period of 15 years. 

6.3 Business combinations and goodwill 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting that measures 

the acquiree’s assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities at their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. 

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at least annually and when circumstances indicate 

that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the 

recoverable amount for each cash generating unit to which goodwill relates. Where the recoverable 

amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount an impairment loss is recognized. 

Thus, after initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. An 

impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. Goodwill on acquisition 

of subsidiaries is presented as an intangible asset. Negative goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is 

recorded directly in the income statement. Goodwill recognized on acquisition of associates is included in 

the carrying amount of the investment. The difference between the cost of acquisition and the non-

controlling interest acquired, arising on the acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary where 

control already exists, is recorded directly in equity. When non-controlling interests are disposed of, but 

control is retained, any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are 

adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and 

attributed to the owners of the parent. 

6.4 Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes all expenses directly 

attributable to the manufacturing process as well as suitable portions of related production overheads, 

based on normal operating capacity. Borrowing costs are not taken into consideration. The Group 

determines the cost of its raw materials and consumables based on the first in first out method. Net 

realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling 

expenses and cost of completion. Any decrease in the carrying value of inventory to the net realizable 

value is recognized in the income statement in the “cost of sales”. 
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6.5 Impairment of non-financial assets 

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and is tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events 

or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Non-financial assets, other than goodwill, 

are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 

may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 

amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 

costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 

lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the 

cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).  

 

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal 

of the impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

 

6.6 Financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets can be divided into the following categories in accordance with IFRS 9: Measurement at 

amortised cost (“AC”), financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and financial assets at 

fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). Financial assets are accounted for and 

measured in accordance with IFRS 9. The Group does not have any financial assets at FVTPL or FVTOCI. 

Debt Instruments measured at FVTOCI 

A debt financial asset is measured at FVTOCI if it held in a business model that has an objective to hold 

financial assets to collect contractual cash flows. After initial recognition, investments in debt financial 

assets are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position(with no deduction for sale or 

disposal costs) with unrealized gains and losses reported in OCI, net of applicable income taxes, until such 

investments are derecognised (i.e. when sold or collected). Upon derecognition, the cumulative gains or 

losses previously recognised in OCI are reclassified from equity to “net trading income/(loss) and results 

from investing securities” of the income statement. 

Equity Instruments measured at FVTOCI 

After initial recognition, investments in equity instruments designated at FVTOCI are measured at fair 

value, with no deduction for sale or disposal costs. With the exception of dividends received, the 

associated gains and losses (including any foreign exchange component is recognized in OCI. Amounts 

presented in OCI are subsequently recycled to the income statement, instead the cumulative gain or loss 

is transferred within equity from accumulated OCI to retained earnings. 
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Financial assets measured at FVTPL 

After initial recognition, financial assets that are classified as at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with no 

deduction for sale or disposal costs. Gains or losses arising from fair value remeasurement are recognized 

in their entirety in “net trading income/(loss) and results from investing securities”. The Group does not 

have any financial assets at FVTPL or FVTOCI. 

Financial liabilities are measured on initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition. For financial liabilities that subsequently continue to be measured at fair 

value, any transaction costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they occur. Financial 

liabilities at amortised cost include trade and other payables and long-term debt. Trade and other payables 

and long-term debt are initially recognised at fair value equalling the amount required to be paid, less, 

when material, a discount to reduce the payables to fair value. Subsequently, trade and other payables 

and long-term debt are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Trade and other 

payables are classified as current liabilities due to their short-term nature, except for maturities greater 

than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current liabilities. 

 

6.7 Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position 

when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 

settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group does not have 

any legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts in the statement of financial position. 

6.8 Impairment of financial assets 

The Group financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model consist of trade receivables 

for sales of inventory and from the provision of services. While cash and cash equivalents are also subject 

to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial. The group 

applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected 

loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have 

been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates 

are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 24 months before 31 December 2019 or 1 

January respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within the period. The 

historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic 

factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. 

For all other financial assets at amortised cost the general approach is applied. These assets are 

considered to have a low credit risk. 
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6.9 Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of 

business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented 

as non-current assets. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement immediately and therefore all classified 

as current assets. 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost 

less a provision for impairment. Receivables for which an impairment provision was recognised are written off 

against the provision when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. Impairment losses are 

recognised in statement of profit or loss within selling and distribution expenses. 

The Company and the Group apply the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses 

a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. For the computation of the 

expected credit loss related to trade receivables, an expected credit loss (ECL) matrix is used based on balances 

ageing, historical credit losses as well as macroeconomic factors related to customers profile and economic 

environment. 

6.10 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions and other 

short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 

convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  

6.11 Issued capital 

Share capital comprises ordinary shares of the Company. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, 

net of tax, from the proceeds.  

6.12  Long-term debt 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 

and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 

effective interest method. 

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the 

contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial 

liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including 

any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or 

finance costs. 
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6.13 Employee benefits 

The Group provides post-employment benefits through defined benefit plans as well as various defined 

contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed 

contributions into an independent state-owned entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations 

to pay further contributions after its payment of the fixed contribution. The Group contributes to several 

state plans and insurances for individual employees that are considered defined contribution plans. Plans 

that do not meet the definition of a defined contribution plan are defined benefit plans. The defined 

benefit plans sponsored by the Group defines the amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive 

on retirement by reference to length of service and final salary. The legal obligation for any benefits 

remains with the Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been set aside. Plan 

assets may include assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit fund as well as qualifying 

insurance policies. 

The liability recognized in the statement of financial position for defined benefit plans is the present value 

of the defined benefit obligation (DBO) at the reporting date less the fair value of plan assets. 

Management estimates the DBO annually with the assistance of independent actuaries using the projected 

unit credit method. The estimate of its post-retirement benefit obligations is based on standard rates of 

inflation and mortality. It also takes into account the Group's specific anticipation of future salary 

increases. 

The discount rate is determined close to each year-end by reference to high quality corporate bonds that 

are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 

approximating to the terms of the related pension liability. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized 

immediately in the statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained 

earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur.  

Actuarial gains or losses are not reclassified in statement of profit and loss in subsequent periods. 

Changes in the present value of the DBO resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognized 

immediately in profit or loss as past service costs. Interest expenses related to pension obligations are 

included in “financial expenses” in the income statement. Return on plan assets is included in other 

“finance income”. All other post-employment benefit expenses are included in the relative functions. 

Short-term employee benefits, including holiday entitlement, are current liabilities included in “provision 

for staff retirement indemnities”, measured at the undiscounted amount that the Group expects to pay 

as a result of the unused entitlement. 

6.14  Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 

financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 100 days of 

invoicing. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 

12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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6.15 Assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will 

be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Such non-current 

assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount 

and fair value less costs to sell or to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the 

sale, excluding the finance costs and income tax expense. 

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the 

asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to 

complete the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will be made or 

that the decision to sell will be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the plan to sell the asset 

and the sale expected within one year from the date of the classification. 

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the statement 

of financial position. 

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has been 

disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and: 

• Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations 

• Is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area 

of operations, or 

• Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a 

single amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the statement of profit or loss. 

Additional disclosures are provided in Note 21. All other notes to the financial statements include amounts 

for continuing operations, unless otherwise mentioned. 

6.16 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent assets 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 

past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be 

uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that has 

resulted from past events, for example, product warranties granted, legal disputes or onerous contracts. 

Restructuring provisions are recognized only when the Group has a constructive obligation which is when: 

i. there is a detailed formal plan; and 

ii. the employees affected have been notified of the plan’s main features.  

Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. 
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Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required 

to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. Where there are a number of similar obligations, 

the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of 

obligations as a whole.  

Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material. Any 

reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the 

obligation is recognized as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related 

provision.  

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. In 

those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is 

considered improbable or remote, no liability is recognized.  

Possible inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an 

asset are considered contingent assets. They are described along with the Group's contingent liabilities in 

note 39. 

6.17  Revenue 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue comprises revenue from the sale of goods and the rendering of services. Revenue from contracts 

with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer at an 

amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those 

goods or services based on the following five step approach: 

Step 1: Identify the contracts with customers 

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 

Step 3: Determine the transaction price 

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 

Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.  

In determining the transaction price, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration, the 

existence of significant financing components, noncash consideration, and consideration payable to the 

customer (if any). 

The Group has concluded that it is the generally principal in all of its revenue arrangements because it 

controls the goods and services before transferring them to the customers.  

Sale of goods (Generic drugs) 

Sale of goods comprise the sale of merchandise, semi-finished products and raw materials and is 

recognized when the Group has transferred to the customer control of the goods supplied, generally upon 
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undisputed delivery of the goods.  Revenue from the sale of goods is generally recognized at a point in 

time. 

Revenue from these sales is recognized based on the price specified in the contract, net of estimated price 

adjustments such as deduction for discounts, returns and price reconciliation adjustments.  The products 

are often sold with retrospective price adjustments based on actual selling prices made by its customers 

in specific market(s). Price adjustments are estimated primarily on the basis of historical experience, 

specific contractual terms and future expectations of sales development. 

Rendering of services 

The Group recognizes revenue from licensing fees, development, regulatory and approval milestone fees, 

royalties and other services. Agreements generally include a non-refundable upfront fee, milestone 

payments, the receipt of which is dependent upon the achievement of certain clinical, regulatory or 

commercial milestones, as well as royalties on product sales of licensed products. 

Licensing Agreements 

The Group enters into licensing that provide for commercialization rights to its developed or in 

development product candidates to third party customers to exploit commercially for an agreed upon 

term and within a specified market(s).  The Group considers whether the promise to grant a license is the 

only performance obligation and, if not, whether it is distinct from the other performance obligations 

included in the license contract.  

For licensing of developed compounds, where the promise to grant a license is the only performance 

obligation, revenue is recognized at a point in time when control transfers to the customer or licensee 

and the license period begins.   The transaction price in these agreements includes upfront payments, 

regulatory milestone payments, sales milestones and sales-based royalties. At the inception of each such 

arrangement, the Group estimates the transaction price. Milestone payments are included in the 

transaction price only when it becomes highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of 

cumulative recognized revenue will not occur. The Group reassesses this estimate throughout the 

contract period at each reporting date.   

For licensing of compounds that are under development, there is one combined performance obligation 

in relation to the license granted and the research and development services. In these types of licensing 

arrangements, the Group typically also promises to provide research and development services, prepare 

the registration dossier and/or assist the licensee in obtaining market authorization. Revenue is 

recognized as the Group satisfies the combined performance obligation, over time, using an output 

method based on time elapsed. This reflects both the increase in value of the license and the progression 

of the research and development activities over the development period towards potential 

commercialization of the product. The transaction price in these agreements typically includes upfront 

payments, development and regulatory milestone payments, sales milestones and sales-based royalties. 

At the inception of each such agreement, the Group estimates the transaction price. Milestone payments 

are included in the transaction price only when it becomes highly probable that a significant reversal in 
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the amount of cumulative recognized revenue will not occur. The Group reassesses this estimate 

throughout the contract period at each reporting date and, if necessary, adjusts its estimate of the overall 

transaction price. Any such adjustments are recognized on a cumulative catch-up basis, affecting revenue 

and earnings in the period of adjustment. 

Customers are invoiced based on the agreed upon payment schedule and consideration is payable when 

invoiced. Where the timing of invoicing differs from the timing of satisfying the performance obligation, 

the Group recognizes contract assets and liabilities. 

Contract assets relate to the Group’s rights to a consideration for services transferred but not invoiced at 

the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to the receivables when invoiced and the rights 

become unconditional. Contract liabilities relate to advance payments, the right to an amount of 

consideration that is unconditional, before the Group has transferred the services to the customer. 

Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Group performs under the contract. 

 

Royalties 

License include sales-based royalties, including commercial milestone payments based on the level of 

sales, and the license has been deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate. Related 

revenue is recognized as the subsequent underlying sales occur. 

Measurement of price reconciliations 

Measurement basis for price reconciliation adjustment is in line with the matching principle, by matching 

reporting revenue with the related expenses in each year. The Group’s management implements a policy 

based on the quantities sold by the Group to its customers rather than on the quantities sold by the 

customers to third parties previously in place. It is the Group’s belief that this policy is more consistent 

with industry practice. 

Warranties and Refund Liabilities 

A refund liability (included in trade and other payables) and a right to the returned goods (included in 

other current assets) are recognized for the products expected to be returned. Accumulated experience 

is used to estimate such returns at the time of sale at a portfolio level (expected value method). Because 

the number of products returned has been historically of insignificant value for years, it is highly probable 

that a significant reversal in the cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The validity of this 

assumption and the estimated amount of returns are reassessed at each reporting date.  

6.18 Expenses 

Expenses arising from the Group’s business operations are accounted for in the year incurred. They are 

determined with due observance of the aforementioned accounting policies and allocated to the financial 

year to which they relate. Foreseeable and other obligations as well as potential losses arising before the 
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financial year-end are recognized if they are known before the financial statements are prepared and 

provided all other conditions for forming provisions are met. 

6.19 Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs primarily comprise interest on the Group's borrowings. Borrowing costs are recognized 

as expenses as incurred, unless these costs are capitalized in accordance with IAS 23 “Borrowing costs”. 

Borrowing costs, directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 

necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as 

part of the cost of the respective assets. This cost is capitalized only if it is probable that future economic 

benefits will flow to the Group and can be reliably measured. 

All other borrowing costs are expensed as incurred and included in “Financial expenses” in the income 

statement by using the effective interest rate method. Effective interest rate method is a method of 

estimating the amortized cost of a financial asset or liability and allocation of interest income or interest 

expenses during the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate which is used to discount future 

payments or receipts in cash accurately, during the expected useful life of the financial instrument or, if 

required, for shorter period, in the net carrying value of the financial asset or liability. 

While calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates the cash flows by taking into account 

the contractual terms behind the financial instrument (for example, prepayments) but not the future 

losses. The estimation includes all expenses and items paid or received among counterparties which are 

considered part of the effective interest rate, any issuance fees and additional charges or discounts. 

6.20 Leases 

The group leases various offices and vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 5 

years but may have extension or termination options.  

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 

conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the 

leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing 

purposes. 

Until the 2018 financial year, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified operating leases. 

Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to 

profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. From 1 January 2019, leases are 

recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is 

available for use by the group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The 

finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 

interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right of use asset is depreciated over 

the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
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Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities 

include the net present value of the following lease payments: 

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable 

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, 

• amounts expected to be payable by the group under residual value guarantees 

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and 

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the group exercising that 

option. 

 

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 

measurement of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 

lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being 

the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of 

similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and 

conditions. The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 

January 2019 is 4.28%. 

 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability 

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received 

• any initial direct costs, and 

• restoration costs at the expense of the lessee in order to disassemble and remove the underlying asset, 

to restore the premises where it has been located, or to restore the underlying asset to the condition 

provided by the terms and conditions of the lease. 

 

Payments associated with short-term leases of vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognized 

on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 

months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment. 

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property and equipment leases across the 

group. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the 

group’s operations. Most of the extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the group 

and not by the respective lessor. As described in note 7.12, extension options in offices and vehicles leases 

have not been included in the lease liability, because the group could replace the assets without significant 

cost or business disruption. 

 

6.21 Interest income and expenses 

Interest income and expense are recognised within finance income and costs using the effective interest 

method. When a loan or receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable 

amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the 

instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 
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Interest income on impaired loan and receivables is recognised using the original effective interest rate. 

6.22  Corporate income tax 

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income 

based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets 

and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 

at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate 

taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 

situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 

appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 

However deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.  

Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability 

in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither 

accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply 

when the related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to 

utilise those temporary differences and losses. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for 

temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations 

where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable 

that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 

when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred 

tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and 

intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
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6.23 Sales tax 

Expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax, except: 

1. When the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 

authority, in which case, the sales tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 

of the expense item, as applicable. 

2. When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included. 

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 

receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

6.24 Profit distribution to employees 

At the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of Pharmathen S.A and Pharmathen International S.A, 

the shareholders may consider and approve an ex-gratia distribution of retained profits to the employees 

of each company, in accordance with law 4548/2018 and law 4172/2013, in recognition of their 

contribution to the performance of the Group in the respective year. Under the local tax laws this 

distribution is treated as a dividend from retained earnings in the hands of the employees. 

Under IAS 19 this distribution is reported as an employee benefit. The Group recognises an expense in the 

income statement and a provision for the profit distribution to employees within current liabilities at year-

end, when a reliable estimate can be made in accordance with IAS 19. The Group recognises a provision 

when its management has reason to expect that the annual financial targets of the Group will be achieved 

and its shareholders intend to approve a distribution of profits to the employees.  
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7. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make assumptions, estimates and 

judgments that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related 

disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could 

result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities 

affected in future periods. On an ongoing basis management evaluates its estimates including those 

related to impairment of property, plant and equipment, impairment of intangible assets, useful lives of 

depreciable assets, deferred income tax assets, development costs, provision for income taxes, provision 

for doubtful debts, provision for staff retirement indemnities, provision for inventories and price 

reconciliations. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other 

assumptions that are believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the bases for making judgments 

about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily available from other sources. Actual 

results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The key assumptions 

concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a 

significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 

next financial year are discussed below. 

7.1 Revenue recognition 

The Group recognises revenue from licensing fees, development, regulatory and approval milestone fees, 

sales milestones and royalties. Agreements generally include an up-front fee, milestone payments, the 

receipt of which is dependent upon the achievement of certain clinical, regulatory or commercial 

milestones, as well as royalties on product sales of licensed products. For these agreements, the Group is 

required to apply judgment in the identification of the number of performance obligations within a 

contract, determination of the transaction price, taking into account the variable consideration 

components and the timing of revenue recognition. The Group applies the five-step model detailed in IFRS 

15 to determine when, how and at what amount revenue is to be recognised depending on whether certain 

criteria are met.  Refer Note 6.17 “Revenue”. 

7.2  Impairment of Property Plant and Equipment 

The determination of impairment of property, plant and equipment involves the use of estimates that 

include, but are not limited to, the cause, timing and amount of the impairment. Impairment is based on 

a large number of factors, such as changes in current competitive conditions, expectations of growth in 

the industry, increased cost of capital, changes in the future availability of financing, technological 

obsolescence, discontinuance of services, current replacement costs, prices paid in comparable 

transactions and other changes in circumstances that indicate an impairment exists. The recoverable 

amount is typically determined using a discounted cash flow method. The identification of impairment 

indicators, as well as the estimation of future cash flows and the determination of fair values for assets 

(or groups of assets) require management to make significant judgments concerning the identification 

and validation of impairment indicators, expected cash flows, applicable discount rates, useful lives and 

residual values. 
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Pharmathen International operates the main plant of the Group in Sapes region, Greece. This subsidiary 

has mainly one client, the parent Company of the Group and its sales are made solely to Pharmathen S.A. 

Based on five year term business plan, Pharmathen International is expected to have significant cash flows 

and due to this the recoverable amount of the plant is considered to be much greater than the carrying 

value as at December 31, 2018 whereas no other indicators of impairment exist. 

7.3 Impairment of Intangible assets  

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 

If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates 

the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset fair value less 

costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless 

the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups 

of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 

impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. The Group bases its impairment calculation on 

business plans, which are prepared separately. These business plans cover a period of five years. 

7.4 Useful Lives of Depreciable Assets 

The Group and the Company must estimate the useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets recognized at acquisition or as a result of a business combination. These estimates are revisited at 

least on an annual basis taking into account new developments and market conditions. 

7.5 Deferred Income Tax Assets  

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities have been provided for the tax effects of temporary differences 

between the carrying amount and tax base of such assets and liabilities, using enacted tax rates in effect 

in the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax assets are recognized 

for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the 

extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 

differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused losses can be utilized. The Group and 

the Company have considered future taxable income and followed ongoing feasible and prudent tax 

planning strategy in the assessment of the recoverability of deferred tax assets. The accounting estimate 

related to deferred income tax assets requires management to make assumptions regarding the timing of 

future events, including the probability of expected future taxable income and available tax planning 

opportunities.  

7.6 Development costs 

Development costs are capitalized according to the accounting policy as described under the respective 

paragraph above Intangible Assets. In order for the Group to account for the amounts to be capitalized, 

management proceeds in certain assumptions in relation to expected future cash inflows generated from 

the asset, discount rates and expected future periods in which benefits will inflow to the Group. 
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7.7 Provision for Income Taxes 

The provision for income taxes in accordance with IAS 12 “Income taxes”, are the amounts expected to 

be paid to the taxation authorities and includes provision for current income taxes reported and the 

potential additional tax that may be imposed as a result of audits by the taxation authorities. Group 

entities are subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions and significant management judgment is 

required in determining the provision for income taxes. Actual income taxes could vary from these 

estimates due to future changes in income tax law, significant changes in the jurisdictions in which the 

Company and the Group operate, or unpredicted results from the final determination of each year’s 

liability by the tax authorities. These changes could have a significant impact on the Company’s and the 

Group’s financial position. Where the actual additional income taxes payable are different from the 

amounts that were initially recorded, these differences will impact the income tax and deferred income 

tax provisions in the period in which such a determination is made. 

7.8 Provision for Staff Retirement Indemnities 

Management estimates the defined benefit liability annually with the assistance of independent 

actuaries; however, the actual outcome may vary due to estimation uncertainties. The estimate of its 

defined benefit liability is based on standard rates of inflation and mortality. It also takes into account the 

Group's specific anticipation of future salary increases. Discount factors are determined close to each 

year-end by reference to high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the 

benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension 

liability.  

7.9 Provision for Inventories  

The Group periodically evaluates the adequacy of the provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventories. 

The relative provision is calculated based on ageing and according to prior experience; for inventories 

which have recorded no movement for a period of more than one year. The amount provided for in such 

cases amounts to 100% of carrying value. 

7.10  Price Reconciliation 

The provision for price reconciliations is measured based on the quantities sold by the Group to its 

customers for whom formal price reconciliations have not been performed yet. The respective price used 

for the estimate derives from historical data for prices in the market. 

The provision relating to price reconciliations that are expected to be issued in less than 12 months is 

classified as accrued expenses, whereas the respective provision relating to price reconciliations that are 

expected to be issued in more than 12 months is classified as other non-current liabilities. The respective 

effect in the statement of income is included in revenue. 
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7.11 Impairment of Goodwill 

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an 

estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating 

the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash 

generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those 

cash flows. Impairment of Goodwill is described in note 26. 

7.12 Estimates for the use of borrowing rate 

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 

incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or 

periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to 

be extended (or not terminated). 

For leases of offices and vehicles the following factors are normally the most relevant: 

• If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the group is typically reasonably certain 

to extend (or not terminate).  

• If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the group is 

typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).  

• Otherwise, the group considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs and 

business disruption required to replace the leased asset. 

Most extension options in offices and vehicles leases have not been included in the lease liability, because 

the group could replace the assets without significant cost or business disruption. 

 

 

8. Financial risk management 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Management is of the 

opinion that the Group's exposure to financial risk is limited. 

The risk management policy is executed by the management of the Group. The procedure followed is the 

following: 

 Evaluation of risks related to the Group's activities. 

 Methodology planning and selection of any suitable actions for risk reduction. 

 Execute risk management in accordance to the procedure approved by management. 
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Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations.  

Maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to which the Company and the Group are exposed 

is the carrying value of financial assets. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk whether 

through exposure to individual customers and specific regions. 

All of group cash is retained in high credit quality financial institutions. A significant portion of total cash 

is held outside Greece, the majority of which is deposited in ABN Ambro Bank in Netherlands which been 

affirmed with an A+ rating. Most of cash is denominated in Euro. For 2020 Group is planning to diversify 

its deposit base further by opening new bank accounts with international banks. 

Trade accounts receivable could potentially adversely affect the liquidity of the Group. However, due to 

the large number of customers and the diversification of the customer base, there is no concentration of 

credit risk with respect to these receivables. 

The Group has established specific credit policies under which customers are assessed for 

creditworthiness and there is an effective management of receivables in place both before and after they 

become overdue and doubtful. In monitoring credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit 

risk characteristics, aging profile and existence of previous financial difficulties. Customers that are 

characterized as doubtful are reassessed at each reporting date for the estimated loss that is expected, 

and an appropriate impairment allowance is established. 

In addition to the above the Group assigns to financial institutions a proportion of c. 30-35% 

approximately of foreign receivables invoices which are considered factoring without recourse. Apart 

from this, a significant amount of the remaining foreign receivables (in excess of 80%) are also insured 

with credit insurance organizations. 

No credit limits were exceeded by trade debtors during the reporting period, and management does not 

expect any losses from non - performance by these counterparties.   

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows: 

 

The company and the group applied the simplified approach as per paragraph 5.5.15 of IFRS 9, according 

to which the expected credit losses, in relation to customer receivables, is determined by the amount 

resulting from the total maturity of the receivables. For the computation of the expected credit loss 

related to trade and other receivables, an expected credit loss (ECL) matrix is used based on balances 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

< 90 days 39,736,935        31,996,857        

90 - 180 days 8,800,615          18,220,628        

180 - 360 days 13,705,633        15,380,004        

> year 2,330,695          1,928,830          

TOTAL: 64,573,879     67,526,319     
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ageing, historical credit losses as well as macroeconomic factors related to customers profile and 

economic environment. 

The failure of a customer to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 360 days past due is 

considered default event and full provision is applied.   

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 

sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 

incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. The Group monitors its 

liquidity risk on an ongoing basis. The liquidity planning considers the maturity of the financial assets (e.g. 

accounts receivable and other financial assets) and projected cash flows from operations. 

The tables below analyse the Group’s financial liabilities for Continued and Discontinued Operations into 

relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual maturities for all non-derivative financial liabilities 

for which the contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows: 

 

 

 

 

 

Foreign exchange risk 

The group makes payments mainly in US dollar for certain API purchases and operating expenses, on 

average $ 45-50m per annum. Group Management has decided to leave the exposure unhedged in 2020 

and occasionally lock in the profits by entering into forward contracts. 

Within 6 to 12

6 months months

Interest - bearing loans and borrowings 4,317,469 4,622,122 200,635,284 - 209,574,875

Trade payables 49,226,866 41,087 - - 49,267,953

Accrued and other current liabilities 12,718,725 8,058,780 7,627,598 - 28,405,103

Total 66,263,060 12,721,989 208,262,881 - 287,247,931 

31.12.2018

Short-Term Long-Term

1-5 years
5 years or 

longer
Total

Within 6 to 12

6 months months

Interest - bearing loans and borrowings 3,957,081 4,714,669 45,356,901 153,228,854 207,257,505

Trade payables 43,507,041 - - - 43,507,041

Accrued and other current liabilities 16,458,305 4,023,979 6,217,836 - 26,700,120

Lease liabilities 411,236 829,931 3,806,267 - 5,047,434

Total 64,333,662 9,568,579 55,381,004 153,228,854 282,512,099 

31.12.2019

Short-Term Long-Term

1-5 years
5 years or 

longer
Total
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The Group Management is constantly monitoring its receivables and payables exposure to foreign 

currencies and following the analysts’ reports with respect to major foreign currency transactions it is 

entering into. Given the available cash balance of the Group, the Management reserves the option to 

follow natural hedging practices for any unusually high temporary or permanent exposure to foreign 

currencies in order to hedge against adverse FX rate fluctuation. 

The group does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to the income statement from a reasonable possible 

change of +/- 1% in all the related currencies for the foreign currency denominated purchases and 

expenses affecting the Group: 

 

 

 

Interest rate risk and cash flow risk 

Following the Group refinancing in August 2017, the interest rate has been set with reference to the 6-

month Euribor, the Group has been exposed to changes in market interest rates mainly through its bank 

borrowings.  

The Group Management has a prudent approach to the exposure of interest rate risk, by assessing the 

level of risk and proceeding with a hedging arrangement if necessary. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable change of +/- 5% in interest rates of loans 

and deposits: 

 

 
Price risk 

At year end, the Group is not exposed to equity or commodity price risk, as it does not hold any open 

positions in the market. Further, since the Group is not involved in any kind of trading activities therefore 

it is not exposed to commodity price risk. 

 

Currency 1% -1%

USD 62,342.66 -62,342.66

GBP 28,375.20 -28,375.20

Other 10,460.58 -10,460.58

Deviation on average rate

Interest Rate 5.00% -5.00% 5.00% -5.00%

Income Statement 359,200       (359,200)     348,750       (348,750)     

31.12.2019 31.12.2018
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9. Capital management 

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders and to 

maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 

the shareholder, return capital to shareholder, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. 

This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings 

(including 'current and non-current borrowings' as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash 

and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as 'equity' as shown in the statement of financial position 

plus net debt. 

The gearing ratios at 2019 and 2018 respectively were as follows: 
 

 

  

 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Reported Debt 173,167,730                  164,000,409                  

Refinancing expenses capitalized 8,879,703                      5,999,591                      

Gross Debt 182,047,433                  170,000,000                  

Cash and cash equivalents (14,928,418)                   (18,589,060)                   

Net Debt 167,119,015                  151,410,940                  

Εquity 379,171,569                  355,776,980                  

Total capital (net debt and equity) 546,290,584                  507,187,920                  

Gearing ratio 31% 30%
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10. Fair value information 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is disclosed in the financial statements are categorized within 

the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement as a whole: 

 

• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable. 

• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is unobservable. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 

basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy 

as explained above. 

Fair values, including valuation methods and assumptions 

- At December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade 

and other receivables and trade and other payables and inter-group receivables approximated their fair 

values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. 

- At December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the fair values of the long-term intercompany payables 

and borrowings are not materially different from the carrying amounts. 

11. Revenue 

The revenue information below is based on the locations of the customers: 

 

The Group has the following types of revenue: 

 

 

The sales of goods include a provision for price reconciliations of €5,421,105 and €12,466,327 for 2019 

and 2018 respectively.  

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Greece 6,697,847                          8,724,685                          

Rest of Europe 165,335,921                      143,524,820                      

Rest of the World 52,049,552                        38,980,780                        

Total 224,083,320                      191,230,284                      

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Sale of goods 194,681,630                         164,458,173                         

Raw materials 5,051,282                             6,946,574                             

Rendering of services 24,350,407                           19,825,538                           

Total 224,083,320                      191,230,284                      
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The following table shows how much of the revenue recognized in the current period related to brought-

forward contract liabilities and how much relates to contract liabilities for the current year: 

 

 

The balance of €3,061,821 is expected to be released into the income statement by € 2.2 million in 2020, 

€ 0.7 million in 2021 and € 0.2 million in 2022. 

 

 

12. Cost of sales 

 

 

  

31.12.2019

Balance December 31, 2018 4,497,216                          

Additions 1,805,354                          

Reversal (3,240,749)                         

Balance December 31, 2019 3,061,821                          

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Change in inventories 92,116,630                           75,151,120                           

Employee wages and salaries and other benefits 17,708,173                           16,434,078                           

Third party remuneration and expenses 9,228,428                             9,416,601                             

Third party benefits 2,808,095                             2,337,144                             

Taxes & duties 59,391                                  59,800                                  

Depreciation 5,778,961                             3,349,254                             

Amortisation 402,453                                334,339                                

Provisions for obsolete inventory (485,605)                               203,931                                

Sundry expenses 849,127                                3,249,092                             

Total 128,465,653                      110,535,358                      
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13. Other income / expenses 

 

 

Revenue from services to third parties mainly relates to invoicing of clients for undertaking the licensing 

of drugs in various areas. The increased amount in Other income is mainly attributable to provision for 

collection of litigation fees awarded.  

 

14. Administrative expenses 

 

 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Subsidies received 333,121                                74,578                                  

Unused provisions 337,506                                706,374                                

Various  revenues from sales 41,354                                  26,205                                  

Revenue from services to third parties 7,737                                    174,619                                

Income from rent 1,350                                    118,179                                

Other  income 3,225,199                             1,604,408                             

Total 3,946,267                           2,704,363                           

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Employee wages and salaries and other benefits 10,705,532                           10,268,618                           

Third party remuneration and expenses 4,443,019                             3,996,743                             

Third party benefits 923,361                                1,277,699                             

Taxes & duties 223,543                                255,821                                

Depreciation (note 24) 291,586                                322,758                                

Amortisation (note 25) 517,983                                118,218                                

Sundry expenses 2,925,781                             2,252,701                             

Total 20,030,804                        18,492,557                        
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The following audit fees were expensed in the income statement in the reporting period: 

 

 

 

 

 

The fees listed above relate to the procedures applied to the Company and its consolidated group entities 

by accounting firms and external auditors as referred to in Section 1, subsection 1 of the Audit Firms 

Supervision Act (‘Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties - Wta’) as well as by Dutch and foreign-based 

accounting firms, including their tax services and advisory groups. 

These fees relate to the audit of the 2019 financial statements, regardless of whether the work was 

performed during the financial year. 

15. Selling and distribution expenses 

 

2018

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Accountants N.V. 

Other PwC 

network
Total PwC network

€ € €

Audit of the financial statements 167,000                                -                   167,000                   

Other audit services -                                       61,000             61,000                     

Tax services -                                       171,998           171,998                   

Other non-audit services -                                       179,496           179,496                   

167,000                                412,494           579,494                   

2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Accountants N.V. 

Other PwC 

network
Total PwC network

€ € €

Audit of the financial statements 173,500                                -                   173,500                   

Other audit services -                                       63,000             63,000                     

Tax services -                                       66,966             66,966                     

Other non-audit services -                                       240,906           240,906                   

173,500                                370,872           544,372                   

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Employee wages and salaries and other benefits 5,354,579                             4,049,878                             

Third party remuneration and expenses 3,050,033                             1,818,438                             

Third party benefits 834,738                                889,829                                

Taxes & duties 136,886                                258,500                                

Depreciation (note 24) 571,665                                296,449                                

Amortisation (note 25) 2,399,649                             1,593,961                             

Transportation expenses 1,813,492                             1,354,436                             

Travelling expenses 251,632                                242,999                                

Provisions for trade receivables (note 29) 307,115                                26                                         

Sundry expenses 2,870,284                             1,005,519                             

Total 17,590,072                        11,510,034                        
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Third party remuneration and sundry expenses relate to commissions to 3rd parties which have increased 

due to sales growth and mix.  

 

 

16. Research and development expenses 

 

  

During 2019 and based on the internal procedures of the Group, the management decided to stop the 

development of R&D projects under the assumption that the market share of the relevant molecules is 

limited and the relative sales from these would be very low (not expect to realize future economic 

benefits). The write off amount of these two projects was € 534.870. 

 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Employee wages and salaries and other benefits 2,387,128                             2,130,572                             

Third party remuneration and expenses 833,769                                791,497                                

Third party benefits 530,093                                924,563                                

Taxes & duties 60,539                                  64,472                                  

Depreciation (note 24) 1,111,875                             791,915                                

Amortisation (note 25) 19,739,242                           16,927,006                           

Regulatory fees 1,443,209                             1,288,492                             

Intangible Assets write off (note 25) 534,870                                650,612                                

Sundry expenses 603,574                                1,222,103                             

Total 27,244,299                        24,791,233                        
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17. Number of employees  

 

During the year 2019, the average number of employees calculated on a full-time equivalent basis was 

1030. Of these employees, 1021 were employed outside Netherlands (2018: 913). The total number of 

employees broken down per structure of the entity is the following: 

 

The full time equivalent (FTE) number of personnel during the period was employed in the world as 

follows: 

 

 

The analysis of the average number of employees per department for the continuing operations is as 

follows: 

  

 
 
 

  

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Netherlands 9 9

Rest of Europe 1011 898

Rest of world 10 13

Discontinued operations 0 2

Total 1.030 922

Department 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Production 590 517

R&D 162 154

Finance 43 38

Logistics management 44 34

Corporate QA 38 33

Regulatory 30 27

Administration 16 19

Business Development 13 15

Information Technology 19 16

Human resources 14 13

Customer Service 17 13

Pharmacovigilance 12 10

Legal 8 7

Intellectual Property 7 8

Planning 9 8

Purchasing 5 3

Properties management 1 3

Operational excellence 2 2

Total 1.030 920
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18. Financial income 

 
 

19. Finance expenses 

 

Other finance expenses relate mostly to imports bank charges and bank commissions. 

 

20. Income tax  

The income tax expense has been calculated based on the profit before income tax in conjunction with 

the nominal tax rate applicable. After a change in tax law, the nominal income tax rate applicable to the 

Group for its Greek operations is 24% for years 2019 and onwards. For 2018 and according to Article 58 

of Law 4172/2013 and with Law 4579/2018 the nominal income tax rate was 29%. 

Tax returns of group companies are filed annually but the profits or losses declared for tax purposes 

remain provisional until such time, as the local tax authorities, in which the entities operate, examine the 

returns and the records of the taxpayer and a final assessment is issued or the statute of limitation has 

expired. 

Greek tax regulations and related clauses are subject to interpretation by the tax authorities and 

administrative courts of law. Net operating losses which are tax deductible, can be carried forward against 

taxable profits for a period of five years from the year they are generated. 

The Group’s subsidiaries have not been audited by the tax authorities for the years presented in note 40 

“Contingent Liabilities - Assets” and, therefore, the tax liabilities for the open years have not been 

finalized. 

From the fiscal year 2011 onwards, all Greek Societe Anonyme and limited liability companies that are 

required to prepare audited statutory financial statements must in addition obtain a “Tax Certificate” as 

provided by Article 82 of Law 2238/1994. Pharmathen S.A, Pharmathen Hellas and Pharmathen 

International are subject to the tax audit based on the provisions of the law as described above. 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Bank deposit receipts 2,448                                 1,926                                  

Unwinding of discount -                                     69,000                                

Foreign exchange gains 457,104                             1,158,876                           

Other financial income 3,013,839                          544,341                              

Total 3,473,390                           1,774,143                           

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Interest on long-term loans 9,458,932                          9,170,042                          

Factoring Costs 380,452                             401,134                             

Foreign exchange losses 1,208,982                          1,556,333                          

Other finance expenses 504,645                             407,226                             

Total 11,553,012                        11,534,735                        
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As at December 31, 2019, the parent company Holding BV has fiscal losses to be offset against future 

profits for corporate tax purposes. The period in which these fiscal losses can be settled with future 

profitable activities is restricted to 9 years. However, no deferred tax assets claim on that amount is 

recorded for the sake of prudence. 

Income tax for the group for the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, are analysed 

as follows: 

Major components of the income tax expense 

 

  

According to corporate tax law 4172/2013, companies that perform research and development are 

entitled to a tax allowance relating to the research expenses that have been audited and confirmed by 

the General Secretariat for research and Technology. The amount of the tax allowance is 30% of the total 

research and development expenses incurred during the year by the Group and is subtracted from the 

taxable profit of the financial year. 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Current income tax 585,937             525,413             

Deferred income taxes 2,376,655          134,283             

Total 2,962,592        659,696           

Tax Reconciliation 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Profit before tax 26,619,136        18,844,874        

Tax rate 25% 25%

Attributable tax 6,654,784          4,711,218          

Adjustments for nominal tax rate changes (1,283,062)         (6,358,899)         

Tax allowances on research and development (2,617,534)         (2,608,416)         

Derecognition of previously recognized deductible temporary differences 532,384             740,567             

Deductible temporary differences for which no DT was recognized (36,206)              (48,996)              

Expenses not recognised for tax purposes 266,445             2,465,685          

Difference in tax rates (264,185)            772,783             

Other movement (285,035)            985,753             

Tax Expense 2,962,593        659,696           

Effective tax rate 11% 4%
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21. Discontinued operations 

The Group Management decided to streamline  its B2C and B2B businesses in the context of  a strategic 

Group Reorganization plan whereby as separate business units they will be able to leverage  their unique 

core strengths and competencies to manage the business and growth challenges in a more efficient and 

effective manner and  on the basis of an independent financial and risk management strategy. 

Several actions and decisions have been taken regarding the reorganization of the Group of companies 

such as all B2C Companies of the Group and specifically those of Pharmathen Hellas S.A., Libytec S.A. and 

Expermed S.A. have been sold. 

 

The manufacturing, R&D and all International sales shall remain under the affiliated company Pharmathen 

S.A., owned ultimately by Pharmathen Global Holding BV.  

In addition to the above, the Group management has decided to dispose the operations of Adventus India 

by selling its shares. As a result, the results of Adventus India are included in the Profit / (loss) for the 

period from discontinued operations. The date for the completion of the sale was 30 December 2019. 

The results of the discontinued operations as at December 31, 2019 and 2018 were the following: 

   

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Revenue -                        70,666                  

Cost of sales (366)                      (115,402)               

Gross profit (366)                      (44,736)                 

Other income -                        59,256                  

Administrative expenses -                        (1,168)                   

Research and development expenses (120,349)               (332,564)               

Operating profit (120,715)               (319,212)               

Financial income -                        94,805                  

Financial expenses (20,431)                 -                        

Profit before income taxes from discontinued operations (141,146)               (224,407)               

Income taxes (65,793)                 (23,110)                 

Loss for the year before loss on disposal (206,939)               (247,517)               

Loss on disposal (126,124)               

Loss for the year (333,063)               (247,517)               
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The statement of Financial Position of the discontinued operations as at December 31, 2019 was the 

following: 

 

 

The statement of cash flow of the discontinued operations as at December 31, 2019 was the following: 

 

  

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Non-current assets

Property plant and equipment -                        286,932              

Other non-current assets -                        10,224                

Total non-current assets -                        297,155              

Current assets

Other receivables -                        390,627              

Cash and cash equivalents -                        79,518                

Total current assets -                        470,144              

Total assets held for sale -                        767,300              

Current liabilities

Trade accounts payable -                        238                     

Accrued and other current liabilities -                        292,904              

Total current liabilities -                        293,142              

Total liabilities held for sale -                        293,142              

Net assets held for sale -                        474,158              

Statement of Cash Flow (extract) 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Net cash flows from operating activities 39.369                  39.463                  

Net cash flows used in investing activities -                        -                        

Net cash flows used in financing activities -                        -                        

Net cash (outflow) / inflow 39.369                  39.463                
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22. Key management compensation 

Key management includes directors, having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 

controlling the activities of the entity.  

 

The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below: 

 

 

 
 

23. Directors remuneration 

 

  

 

The directors’ remuneration includes periodically paid remuneration, such as salaries, holiday allowance 

and social premiums, remuneration to be paid after a certain term, such as pensions, allowances on 

termination of employment, profit sharing, transitional benefits in so far as related to directors, bonus 

payments and granted shares, to the extent that these items were charged to the Company and all 

subsidiaries of the Company. No loans, advance payments or guarantees have been provided to the 

directors of the company. 

No loans, advance payments or guarantees have been provided to the directors of the Group. 

 

24. Property, plant and equipment  

 

  

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Short-term employee benefits 1,994,589       2,342,059     

Termination benefits 210,000          1,103,258     

Total 2,204,589       3,445,317     

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Group Board Members Compensation -                  2,749,498     

 Land  Buildings 

 Machinery & 

Equipment 

 Motor 

Vehicles 

 Furniture & 

Fittings 

 Construction 

in Progress  Total 

Cost as at January 1, 2018          1,993,060       20,771,404       26,677,434             216,982       10,703,872       18,315,006       78,677,757 

Additions                         -                 998,718            7,394,589                 53,882            2,011,667            3,455,185       13,914,042 

Transfers                         -              6,689,057            5,214,180                         -              5,056,333        (16,959,569)                         -   

Exchange differences                 (5,724)                 (6,167)               (61,032)                         -                   (9,288)                         -                (82,210)

Sales                         -                           -                 (98,436)             (196,875)                         -                           -             (295,311)

Write-offs                         -                   (3,596)               (18,376)                         -                 (19,360)                         -                (41,333)

Cost as at December 31, 2018          1,987,336       28,449,416       39,108,359               73,989       17,743,224          4,810,622       92,172,945 

Accumulated Depreciation as at January 1, 2018                         -            1,078,973          3,068,497               58,555          4,087,595                         -            8,293,619 

Additions (notes 23-26)                         -                 550,788            2,195,329                 33,717            2,012,242                         -            4,792,076 

Sales                         -                           -                 (62,975)             (184,415)                         -                           -             (247,390)

Accumulated Depreciation as at December 31, 2018                         -            1,629,761          5,200,851              (92,144)          6,099,837                         -         12,838,304 

Net Book Value of Assets Classified as Discontinued Operations               140,355               136,317                 17,193                         -                   13,145               (20,080)             286,932 

Net Book Value as at December 31, 2018 of Continuing Operations          1,987,336       26,819,655       33,907,508             166,133       11,643,387          4,810,622       79,047,709 
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The tangible assets disposed relate to assets of Adventus. 

 

The recognized right of use assets relate to the following types of assets: 

 
 

Accordingly, the recognized lease liability relate to the following types of assets: 

 
 

 

Note: The group has adopted IFRS 16 Leases retrospectively from 1 January 2019. The associated right-

of-use assets for property and vehicles leases were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability. 

For details see note 42. 

 Land  Buildings 

 Machinery & 

Equipment  Motor Vehicles 

 Furniture & 

Fittings 

 Construction in 

Progress  Total 

Cost as at January 1, 2019           1,987,336         28,449,416         39,108,359                73,989         17,743,224           4,810,622         92,172,945 

Additions                36,258              213,577           6,327,534                35,253           1,372,398           3,888,468         11,873,488 

Exchange differences                  2,155                18,271                     264                       -                     (262)                       -                  20,428 

Sales                       -                         -                         -                         -                     (170)                       -                     (170)

Write-offs              (16,436)                  2,479              (15,803)              (11,865)              (35,793)                       -                (77,418)

Assets Disposed            (126,075)            (206,040)            (244,371)                       -                (91,264)                       -              (667,749)

Cost as at December 31, 2019           1,883,238         28,477,704         45,175,982                97,377         18,988,133           8,699,090       103,321,524 

Accumulated Depreciation as at January 1, 2019                       -             1,629,761           5,200,851              (92,144)           6,099,837                       -           12,838,304 

Additions                       -                748,673           3,662,199                34,875           2,497,500                       -             6,943,247 

Sales                       -                         -                         -                         -                       (87)                       -                       (87)

Write-offs                       -                         -                         -                (11,865)              (21,132)                       -                (32,997)

Assets Disposed                       -                (65,150)            (247,093)                       -                (89,159)                       -              (401,402)

Accumulated Depreciation as at December 31, 2019                       -             2,313,284           8,615,957              (69,134)           8,486,959                       -           19,347,065 

Net Book Value as at December 31, 2019           1,883,238         26,164,420         36,560,025              166,511         10,501,174           8,699,090         83,974,461 

 Land  Buildings  Motor Vehicles  Total 

Balance as at January 1, 2019                  9,218           4,655,543           1,246,640           5,911,401 

Additions                       -                211,060              240,013              451,073 

Terminations                       -                (41,759)              (99,227)            (140,986)

Balance as at December 31, 2019                  9,218           4,824,843           1,387,426           6,221,487 

Accumulated Depreciation as at January 1, 2019                       -                         -                         -                         -   

Additions                  4,609              957,286              335,592           1,297,487 

Terminations                       -                  (2,030)                       -                  (2,030)

Accumulated Depreciation as at December 31, 2019                  4,609              955,256              335,592           1,295,457 

Net Book Value as at December 31, 2019                  4,609           3,869,587           1,051,834           4,926,029 

 Land  Buildings  Motor Vehicles  Total 

Balance as at January 1, 2019                  9,218           4,655,543           1,246,640           5,911,401 

Additions                       -                211,060              240,013              451,073 

Interest on Lease Liabilities                     290              206,618                49,036              255,944 

Terminations                       -                (40,186)              (99,587)            (139,773)

Payments                (4,800)         (1,061,886)            (364,524)         (1,431,210)

Net Book Value as at December 31, 2019                  4,707           3,971,149           1,071,577           5,047,433 

of which:

Current lease liabilities           1,241,166 

Non-current lease liabilities           3,806,267 

          5,047,433 
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25. Intangible assets 

 

 
 

 
  

 

“Internally Generated Drugs Under Development” may include drug development that fulfil the “IAS 38 

Intangible Assets” criteria for recognition but have not been amortized, due to the fact that are either not 

available for use yet or they are awaiting for licenses to be provided from the respective regulatory 

authorities. 

 

During the year, the Group has estimated that the recoverable amount of internally generated assets 

under development of total value € 534,870 (2018: € 650,612) is expected to be nil and therefore has 

written-off their value. 

 

There are no intangible assets with indefinite useful life as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. 

 

26. Goodwill  

 

On 1st September 2015 Pharmathen Global Ltd. acquired 100% of the ordinary share capital of 

Pharmathen S.A. 

 

The fair value of consideration transferred on the acquisition date was as follows: 

 
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Pharmathen S.A. at the date of acquisition were 

as follows: 

 Internally Generated Drugs 

under Development  Software 

 Internally Generated Drugs 

Developed  Property Rights & Patents  Brand Name  Total 

Cost as at January 1, 2018                             57,391,545                               1,986,037                           163,335,572                                  985,458                             21,530,000                           245,228,613 

Additions                             21,102,401                               1,509,105                             14,712,572                                  131,959                                            -                               37,456,037 

Transfers                           (33,298,089)                                            -                               33,298,089                                            -                                              -                                              -   

Write-offs                                (650,612)                                            -                                              -                                              -                                              -                                  (650,612)

Cost as at December 31, 2018                             44,545,245                               3,495,142                           211,346,233                               1,117,418                             21,530,000                           282,034,038 

Accumulated Depreciation as at January 1, 2018                                           -                                    818,238                             28,156,929                                  456,489                               3,349,111                             32,780,767 

Additions                                           -                                    493,772                             16,842,303                                  202,115                               1,435,333                             18,973,523 

Accumulated Depreciation as at December 31, 2018                                           -                                 1,312,010                             44,999,232                                  658,605                               4,784,444                             51,754,291 

Net Book Value as at December 31, 2018                             44,545,245                               2,183,132                           166,347,001                                  458,813                             16,745,556                           230,279,748 

 Internally Generated Drugs 

under Development  Software 

 Internally Generated Drugs 

Developed  Property Rights & Patents  Brand Name  Total 

Cost as at January 1, 2019                             44,545,245                               3,495,142                           211,321,786                               1,141,862                             21,530,000                           282,034,034 

Additions                             12,196,419                               1,379,922                             23,133,220                                           -                                             -                               36,709,561 

Transfers                           (27,929,746)                                           -                               27,929,746                                           -                                             -                                             -   

Write-offs                                (534,870)                                           -                                             -                                             -                                             -                                  (534,870)

Assets Disposed                                           -                                             -                               (2,203,768)                                           -                                             -                               (2,203,768)

Cost as at December 31, 2019                             28,277,048                               4,875,064                           260,180,983                               1,141,862                             21,530,000                           316,004,956 

Accumulated Depreciation as at January 1, 2019                                           -                                 1,312,010                             44,999,232                                  658,605                               4,784,444                             51,754,291 

Additions                                           -                                    763,800                             20,171,623                                  206,299                               1,435,333                             22,577,055 

Accumulated Depreciation as at December 31, 2019                                           -                                 2,075,810                             65,153,836                                  864,903                               6,219,777                             74,314,327 

Net Book Value as at December 31, 2019                             28,277,048                               2,799,254                           195,027,146                                  276,958                             15,310,223                           241,690,632 

€

Cash 245,000,000   

Loan note consideration 90,000,000     

Contingent consideration 75,749,440     

Side deed (1,793,405)      

Total 408,956,035   
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Contingent consideration is payable when the Sales Contingent Consideration Conditions have been 

satisfied, as according to the Sale and Purchase agreement (SPA) dated 18th May 2015, which is based on 

the consolidated audited year end revenue of Pharmathen S.A. (the target company) for December 31, 

2016 not being materially less than the average annual revenue for the preceding three financial years. 

The Contingent consideration at the date of acquisition amounted to € 75,749,440 in accordance with 

SPA. The difference with the amount paid during 2017 of € 89.5 million (note 36) concerns the accrued 

interest expense. 

 

In the context of the Group Restructuring in June 30, 2017, the ordinary shares of Pharmathen SA along 

with the outstanding amount of the deferred consideration increased by accrued interest were 

transferred to Pharmathen Global BV at a fair value that corresponded to the carrying values of the 

respective transferred assets and liabilities in the consolidated statements of the ultimate parent entity 

(Pharmathen Holding 4 Ltd.) in exchange for new ordinary shares in the share capital of the latter. 

 

Impairment of goodwill 

 

The impairment review of goodwill therefore takes place at the level of a cash-generating unit (CGU), that 

is to say a collection of assets that together create a stream of cash independent from the cash flows from 

other assets. The Group operates as one cash generating unit (CGU) and therefore all assets, liabilities and 

goodwill.  

The recoverable amount of the CGU as at December 31, 2019, has been determined based on a “value-

in-use” (NPV) calculation using five-year cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by senior 

management.  

The calculation of “value-in-use” is most sensitive to the following assumptions: 

• Discount rates 

Total Consideration paid: 408,956,035

NCI: 277,592

Asset / Liability 

Original book 

values

Fair value 

adjustments Fair value

Intangible fixed assets 52,136,381     130,392,573  182,528,954    

Tangible fixed assets 43,991,644     15,705,564     59,697,208       

Investments 30,000             30,000               

Other non-current assets 347,200           347,200             

Inventories 35,378,437     2,381,591       37,760,028       

Receivables 65,108,124     65,108,124       

Cash and cash equivalents 34,824,082     34,824,082       

Payables (43,340,356)   (43,340,356)     

Provisions (8,220,860)      (43,430,686)   (51,651,546)     

Borrowings (88,212,429)   (88,212,429)     

Total 92,042,223     105,049,042  197,091,265    

Goodwill: 212,142,362    
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• Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the forecast period 
 

Discount rates - Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each CGU, 

taking into consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets that have 

not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific 

circumstances of the Group and its operating segments and is derived from its weighted average cost of 

capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the 

expected return on investment by the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing 

borrowings the Group is obliged to service. Segment-specific risk is incorporated by applying individual 

beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.  

 

Growth rate estimates - Rates are based on published industry research. Management recognizes that the 

speed of technological change and the possibility of new entrants can have a significant impact on growth 

rate assumptions. 

The management of the Group has made the following key assumptions:  

• Revenues until 2020: as per order book submitted by customers 

• Revenues after 2021: For existing business: volume increase (+3.5% y-o-y) and price up (6% y-o-

y). For new products based on IMS data base, market growth, market penetration and 

management expectations. 

• Cost of sales: 1.6% y-o-y increase as adjusted by economies of scale & inflation 

• Other costs: Selling & Distribution avg +1% and Administration expenses 2% y-o-y reflecting 

estimated inflation rate of 2%. Avg capitalization rate 82% 

• These results have been discounted at a WACC of 13% being the same rate used in 2015 PPA 

analysis 

Based on the results of the impairment test as of 31 December, 2019 no impairment losses were 

identified. Any reasonable changes to the basic assumptions presented above would still indicate that 

adequate headroom exists. 
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27. Other non – current assets 

 
 

The amount in other non-current receivable of € 2.789.691 corresponds to an outstanding receivable from 

the Greek Labour Office for which the Management of Pharmathen International decided to recognize an 

equivalent provision against that.  

 

Advances of € 1.825.909 for CAPEX have been classified as other non-current assets. 

 

28. Inventories 

  

 

The movement of the provision for obsolete inventories is as follows for 2019 and 2018: 

 

 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Guarantees 447,230       427,447       

Advances for CAPEX 1,825,909    1,491,159    

Other non-current receivable 2,789,691    2,789,691    

Provision against non-current receivable (2,789,691)   (2,789,691)   

Total 2,273,139    1,918,606 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Merchandise-Drugs 1,682,594          681,871             

Finished and semi finished products 17,883,663        11,171,068        

Work in progress 941,455             1,454,868          

Raw materials spare parts and auxiliary materials 42,830,204        39,874,926        

Purchased goods in transit 3,965,024          4,936,954          

Provision for obsolete inventory (823,159)            (1,308,763)         

Total 66,479,781      56,810,924 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Opening provision balance 1,308,763          1,104,832          

Additional provision for the year 199,012             311,109             

Release of provision for the year (684,617)            (107,178)            

Closing provision balance 823,159           1,308,763        
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29. Trade and other receivables 

 

In the statement of financial position there are two categories of receivables which are analysed as 

follows: 

 
 

Trade accounts receivable are analysed as follows: 

 

  
The average credit terms of trade receivables is approximately 30 – 60 days. Trade accounts receivable 

are not interest bearing. 

The movement of the provision for doubtful debts for the years 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

 
 

Other accounts receivables are analysed as follows: 

 
 

In 2019 the Group collected € 16.m of VAT (€ 10.m collected by Pharmathen SA and € 6.m by Pharmathen 

International). From the outstanding balance of € 8.5m an amount of € 4.5m was collected the first 

quarter of 2020 and the remaining receivable is set to be collected within the second quarter of 2020. 

 

The fair value of the receivables approximates the book value. No breakdown of the fair values of trade 

and other receivables has been included as the differences between the book values and the fair values 

are insignificant. 

 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Trade accounts receivable 39,114,785       36,013,827       

Other accounts receivable 23,185,955       29,193,035       

Total 62,300,740    65,206,862 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Trade accounts receivable 43,438,904       39,884,416       

Provision for doubtful debts (4,598,747)       (4,291,632)       

Notes receivable 31,190              31,190              

Post-dated cheques receivable 243,438            389,854            

Total 39,114,785    36,013,827 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Opening provision balance 4,291,632       4,291,606       

Additional provision for the year 307,115          57,283            

Release of provision for the year -                      (57,257)           

Closing provision balance 4,598,747       4,291,632       

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

V.A.T. and other receivable from Public Sector 8,542,657       15,118,604     

Finance Cost prepaid and receivable 156,868          73,967            

Accruals 3,056,131       2,711,512       

Other Loans provided 695,196          699,087          

Other short-term receivables 10,735,103     10,589,865     

Total 23,185,955     29,193,035 
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The carrying amount of trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies. 

 
 

 

 

30. Cash and cash equivalents 

All cash and cash equivalents are at the Group’s free disposal. 

 

 

The Group’s bank deposits as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, do not include any restricted balances.  

Cash and cash equivalents are categorized in level 1 within the fair value hierarchy. The Group had as at 

December 31, 2019 an undrawn revolving credit facility of € 42 million.  

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

PLN 120,796            94,820              

GBP 42,420              3,354                

USD 389,404            1,269,836         

EUR 61,748,120       63,838,853       

Total 62,300,740    65,206,862    

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Cash in hand 6,936               5,905               

Cash at banks 14,921,482      18,583,155      

Total 14,928,418      18,589,060      
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31. Share capital and other reserves 

 

 
Share capital 

The authorised share capital of Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. of EUR 32,181,967 is divided into 

32,181,967 ordinary shares  with a par value of EUR 1 each. In August 2017 there was a contribution in 

kind by Pharmathen Holding 4 Ltd. to the share capital increase of Pharmathen Holding BV, where the 

former contributed the investment of Pharmathen Global BV to Pharmathen Holding BV in exchange for 

an issue of new shares. The amount of contribution was €321.639.673 out of which €32,181,967 was the 

share capital. 

Share premium 

The share premium reserve comprises the excess received on shares issued above their nominal value. In 

August 2017 there was a contribution in kind by Pharmathen Holding 4 Ltd. To the share capital increase 

of Pharmathen Holding BV, where the former contributed the investment of Pharmathen Global BV to 

Pharmathen Holding BV in exchange for an issue of new shares.  The amount of contribution was 

€321.639.673 out of which €289.457.706 was the share premium. 

In August 2017 there was a share capital decrease of 18 million Euro which reduced the share premium.  

Other reserves 

Other reserves consists mainly of the statutory reserve and the special reserves formed by the Greek 

subsidiaries Pharmathen SA and Pharmathen International which are analysed as per below. 

Statutory Reserve 

Under Greek Corporate Law 2190/1920, corporations are required to transfer a minimum of 5% of their 

annual net profit as reflected in their statutory books to a statutory reserve until such a reserve equals 

one third of the outstanding share capital and then this transfer becomes optional. The reserve cannot be 

distributed during the corporation’s existence. The amount of statutory reserve for the Group companies 

on a stand-alone basis  as at December 31, 2019 amounted to €7,110,058.00 (2018: €6,106,155.22). 

Special Reserve 

According to corporate tax law 3842 companies that have patents in specific drugs in two countries of the 

OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, e.g Greece and one more) shall be 

provided with a subtraction from the taxable profit. The subtracted amount is calculated according to 

Amounts in €  Share Capital 
 Share 

Premium 

 Other 

Reserves 

 Retained 

Earnings 

 Other 

Components of 

Equity 

 Total 
 Non Controlling 

Interests 
 Total Equity 

Balance January 1, 2018 32,181,967    271,457,706   6,173,261      29,701,346         (1,379,266)             338,135,014   80,575                   338,215,588         

Profit for the year -                   -                     -                   17,937,661           -                           17,937,661        -                          17,937,661              

Other comprehensive income -                   -                     -                   (163,770)               (363,993)                  (527,763)            -                          (527,763)                 

Taxes on other comprehensive income directly attributable to equity -                   -                     -                   47,493                  -                           47,493               -                          47,493                     

Total comprehensive income -                   -                    -                   17,821,385         (363,993)                17,457,391      -                          17,457,391           

Subidies Received -                   -                     104,000            -                        -                           104,000             -                          104,000                   

Transfer from share capital to distributable reserves -                   -                     666,561            (666,561)               -                           -                     -                          -                          

Balance  December 31, 2018 32,181,967    271,457,706   6,943,823      46,856,168         (1,743,259)             355,696,405   80,575                   355,776,980         

Balance January 1, 2019 32,181,967    271,457,706   6,943,823      46,856,168         (1,743,259)             355,696,405   80,575                   355,776,980         

Profit for the year -                   -                     -                   23,323,481           -                           23,323,481        -                          23,323,481              

Other comprehensive income -                   -                     -                   29,548                  152,652                   182,200             -                          182,200                   

Taxes on other comprehensive income directly attributable to equity -                   -                     -                   (7,091)                   -                           (7,091)                -                          (7,091)                     

Total comprehensive income -                   -                    -                   23,345,939         152,652                 23,498,591      -                          23,498,591           

Subidies Received -                   -                     (104,000)          -                        -                           (104,000)            -                          (104,000)                 

Transfer from retained earnings to other reserves -                   -                     1,003,903         (1,003,903)            -                           -                     -                          -                          

Balance  December 31, 2019 32,181,967    271,457,706   7,843,725      69,198,203         (1,590,607)             379,090,994   80,575                   379,171,569         
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profit arising from sales of these particular drugs. This tax benefit exists for the first three years from the 

giving patent of drugs. The amount of this reserve for the Group companies on a stand-alone basis as at 

December 31, 2019, amounted to €9.291.257, 36 (2018: €9.291.257,36). 

Other Components of Equity 

In the other Components of Equity is included the effect from the translation of the net assets of the 

Companies of the Group which operate in different currency than euro. Foreign operations with a 

different currency than the reporting entity are translated into the presentation currency of the reporting 

entity. The resulting foreign currency translations differences on the net investment in such operations 

are included in a reserve. 
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32. Interest – bearing loans and borrowings 

 

By the end of July 2017, in line with its strategic plan, the Group Management had also completed a 

realignment of its capital structure with the participation of international financial institutions as well as 

Greek Banks. The analysis of interest-bearing loans and borrowing is as follows: 

 

   

 

 

Summary of long – term loans 

 
 

 

 

 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

ST Interest - bearing loans and borrowings 1,500,000          1,000,000          

LT Interest - bearing loans and borrowings 158,620,297      163,000,409      

Short-term loans 8,000,000          -                         

Total 168,120,297      164,000,409 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Bondholders

Bank of Ireland 20,000,000        20,000,000        

EAF comPlan II private Debt 1,275,000          1,275,000          

Mizuho Bank 5,750,000          10,750,000        

Natixis 4,750,000          4,750,000          

HSBC 4,500,000          4,500,000          

Partners Group 56,225,000        56,225,000        

RBC Europe Limited 12,250,000        12,250,000        

Royal Bank of Scotland 10,250,000        10,250,000        

Stratum Investments 5,000,000          -                         

Bonds' Capitalized transaction costs (7,684,101)         (5,701,849)         

Amortized bonds' transaction costs 957,785             1,231,219          

Bonds Net Balance 113,273,683      115,529,371      

Greek Banks and EIB Contract value Maturity Date

Piraeus Bank 02/08/2025 38,000,000        39,200,000        

Eurobank Ergasias 02/08/2025 9,500,000          9,800,000          

Banks' Capitalized transaction costs (2,417,034)         (2,007,318)         

Modification gain (597,997)            -                         

Amortized banks' transaction costs 861,644             478,356             

Banks Net Balance 45,346,613        47,471,038        

Total LT Interest - bearing loans and borrowings 158,620,297      163,000,409      
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The maturity of long – term borrowings is as follows: 

 

 

 

Summary of short – term loans 

 
 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of: 

➢ An International Credit Facility of € 170m to the Company with International financial 

institutions analysed as follows: i) A funded syndicated loan of € 120m, with a bullet payment 

after 6 years ii) An unfunded Revolving Credit Facility of €50m with an amount of €8m used as 

at December 31, 2019.  

➢ Two Greek Bond Loans lent to Pharmathen SA and Pharmathen International SA of total €50m, 

with a 6-year maturity and a 30% amortization schedule. 

It is noted that although the terms of the two Greek Bond Loans mirror those agreed under the IFA, they 

additionally allow for a different amortization schedule over the life of the Bond Loans and a lower margin 

(4.25% for the IFA and 3.60% for the Greek Bond Loans).  

Guarantees have been granted by each material Company in accordance with the agreed security 

principles and an Intercreditor agreement has been in place to provide for:  

❖ the principal claims under the International Facility Agreement be ranked pari passu with the 

principal claims under the Greek Bond Loan Documentation. 

❖ security granted under the International Facility Agreement be ranked pari passu with security 

granted under the Greek Bond Loan Documentation. 

❖ the voting arrangements across the International Facility Agreement and Greek Bond Loan 

Documentation. 

Guarantees mainly include: 

• Pledge on the shares of the Greek and Dutch entities 

• Pledge on cash bank accounts 

• Floating charges on trade receivables and inventory 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Between 1 and 2 years 3,500,000          1,500,000          

Between 3 and 5 years 155,120,297      161,500,409      

Total: 158,620,297      163,000,409      

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Credit Facilities

RCF 8,000,000          -                         

Piraeus Bank 1,200,000          800,000             

Eurobank Ergasias 300,000             200,000             

9,500,000          1,000,000          
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• Fixed charges on tangible assets 

The key covenants that underline both the IFA and Greek Bond Loans mainly relate to: 

❖ Financial Covenant: Adjusted leverage ratio with a first testing period on July 31, 2018 and quarterly 

onwards. 

❖ Cash management: The Obligors (being the Company, Pharmathen Global BV, Pharmathen SA, 

Pharmathen International SA and Pharmathen UK Ltd.) will use reasonable endeavors to ensure to 

the fullest extent practicable and in accordance with applicable law and regulation that they their 

cash in bank accounts outside of Greece 

❖ Material contracts: Pharmathen Holding Global BV shall use reasonable endeavors to ensure that 

at all times that it has legal and beneficial ownership of customer’s contracts that represent at least 

80% of international B2B revenue and 70% of total Group B2B revenue respectively. 

As at December 31, 2019, the Group fully complies with the abovementioned key covenants. 

 

33. Provision for staff retirement indemnities  

 

Provision for staff retirement indemnities concerns the Greek subsidiaries Pharmathen SA and 

Pharmathen International. Under Greek labour law, employees and workers are entitled to termination 

payments in the event of dismissal or retirement with the amount of payment varying in relation to 

employees or workers compensation, length of service and manner of termination (dismissed or retired). 

Employees or workers who resign or are dismissed with cause are not entitled to termination payments. 

The indemnity payable in case of retirement is equal to 40% of the amount which would be payable upon 

dismissal without cause. The local practice in Greece is that pension plans are not funded. In accordance 

with this practice the Group does not fund these plans. The Company and Group charge operations for 

benefits earned in each period with a corresponding increase in pension liability. Benefits payment made 

each period to retirees are charged against this liability. 

 

 
 

 
 

Benefit liability 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Present value of unfunded obligations 2,329,911     2,128,174    

Net Liability in Statement of Financial Position 2,329,911     2,128,174    

Income Statement 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Service cost 579,230        38,104         

Interest cost 21,449          28,204         

Past years service cost 21,758          -              

Total charge to operations 622,437        66,307         
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The principal assumptions that have been used are as follows: 

 

 
 

 

A quantitative sensitivity analysis as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 is as shown below: 

 

  
 

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on 

the net defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the 

end of the reporting period. The defined benefit obligation is in line with the expected development of 

contribution which is expected to increase as the length of service of employees is expected to increase.  

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 25.05 years.  

The current portion of the provision for staff retirement indemnities is estimated at € 0.3 million. 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Present Value of benefit obligation at the start of the period 2,128,174      1,898,097     

Service cost 163,873         313,404        

Interest cost 21,449           28,204          

Past  years service cost 21,758           -                

Terminal benefits / Effect from settlement 448,115         -                

Present Value of benefit obligation adjustment through OCI (953,554)        -                

Actuarial changes arising from changes in financial assumptions 718,296         -                

Actuarial changes arising from changes in demographic assumptions 49,158           -                

Experience adjustments 156,553         163,770        

Benefits paid (423,910)        (275,301)       

Present Value of benefit obligation at the end of the period 2,329,911    2,128,174   

Principal Assumptions: 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Discount Rate 0.78% 1.60%

Rate of compensation increase

2020-2021 0.0% 0.0%

2022-2024 0.5% 0.0%

2025-2027 1.0% 0.0%

2028-2030 1.5% 0.0%

2031+ 2.0% 0.0%

Increase in consumer price index 1.7% 2.0%

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Present Value of benefit obligation at the end of the period 2,329,911 2,128,174

Discount rate 0,5% increase 2,121,345 2,024,292

Discount rate 0,5% decrease 2,563,718 2,241,643

Future salaries increase 0,5% 2,560,967 2,231,009

Future salaries decrease 0,5% 2,139,738 -

Future dismissals 0,5% increase 2,321,600 2,408,226

Future dismissals 0,5% decrease 2,338,224 1,825,953
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34. Deferred income taxes 

The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liability in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 

 

 
 

The deferred tax includes an amount of €2,683,966 (2018: €3,532,506) which relates to carried forward 

tax losses of Pharmathen SA and Pharmathen Global BV. The deferred tax of €1,242,444 (2018: 

€2,165,536) relates to Pharmathen SA based on tax losses they have incurred in 2018. The Group has 

concluded that the deferred tax asset will be recoverable using the estimated future taxable income based 

on the approved business plan and budget for the subsidiary. The subsidiary is expected to generate 

taxable profits from 2020 and onwards. The losses in Greece can be carried forward up to 5 years. The 

remaining deferred tax of €1,441,522 (2018: €1,366,970) relates to Pharmathen Global BV based on tax 

losses they have incurred in 2017, 2018 which have been netted off with tax gains of 2019. Tax losses can 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Opening balance (57,078,977) (58,353,963)

Effect from application of IFRS 15                                  - 1,340,940 

Tax (expense) / income (2,376,656) (113,448)

Tax recognized in equity (7,091) 47,493 

Closing balance, December 31             (59,462,724)             (57,078,977)

01.01.2018

Effect from 

application of IFRS 

15

Recognised in 

Other 

Comprehensive 

Income

Recognised in 

Profit and Loss 31.12.2018

Revaluations of land and buildings to fair value (1.114.524)                                -               (1.114.524)                                -                    148.795 (965.729)

Decelerated depreciation (46.097.992)                                -             (46.097.992)                                -                 2.803.501 (43.294.490)

Derecognition of intangible assets 348.261                                -                    348.261                                -                             (0) 348.261 

Impairment of receivables 545.834                                -                    545.834                                -                    (56.150) 489.685 

Provision for staff Indemnities 445.843                                -                    445.843                      47.493                    (65.943) 427.393 

Provision for bad debts 1.914.827                                -                 1.914.827                                -                  (297.566) 1.617.261 

Provision for obsolete inventory 301.088                                -                    301.088                                -                    (50.303) 250.785 

Reversal of tax land revaluation 33.693                                -                      33.693                                -                      (4.647) 29.045 

Deferred tax arising on tax  carrying forward losses 1.003.905                                -                 1.003.905                                -                 2.528.601 3.532.506 

Deferred tax due to deferred revenue 0                 1.340.940                 1.340.940                                -                  (211.006) 1.129.934 

Deferred tax arising on development expenses (17.559.090)                                -             (17.559.090)                                -               (3.200.150) (20.759.240)

Provision for Price Reconciliation 1.867.558                                -                 1.867.558                                -                  (953.141) 914.418 

Other (43.367)                                -                    (43.367)                                -                  (755.438) (798.805)

Total (58.353.963)                 1.340.940             (57.013.023)                      47.493 (113.448) (57.078.977)

Classified as Discontinued Operations:                    (20.835) (20.835)                                - 

Classified as Continuing Operations:             (58.333.128)             (56.992.188)             (57.078.977)

01.01.2019

Recognised in Other 

Comprehensive 

Income

Recognised in 

Profit and Loss 31.12.2019

Revaluations of land and buildings to fair value (965,729)                                        -                        45,481 (920,248)

Decelerated depreciation (43,294,490)                                        -                 (1,660,535) (44,955,026)

Derecognition of intangible assets 348,261                                        -                      (14,777) 333,484 

Lease Liabilities 0                                        -                   1,223,144 1,223,144 

Impairment of receivables 489,685                                        -                      (14,037) 475,647 

Provision for staff Indemnities 427,393                               (7,091)                        34,272 454,573 

Provision for bad debts 1,617,261                                        -                      (42,481) 1,574,780 

Provision for obsolete inventory 250,785                                        -                          4,208 254,992 

Reversal of tax land revaluation 29,045                                        -                        (1,162) 27,883 

Deferred tax arising on tax carrying forward losses 3,532,506                                        -                    (848,540) 2,683,966 

Deferred tax due to deferred revenue 1,129,934                                        -                    (400,539) 729,395 

Deferred tax arising on development expenses (20,759,240)                                        -                 (1,089,230) (21,848,469)

Provision for Price Reconciliation 914,418                                        -                    (891,789) 22,628 

Other (798,805)                                        -                   1,279,330 480,525 

Total (57,078,977)                             (7,091) (2,376,656) (59,462,724)

Classified as Discontinued Operations:                                  -                                  - 

Classified as Continuing Operations:               (57,078,977)               (59,462,724)
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be carried forward in Netherlands for nine years if these losses originate from before 2019. Tax losses as 

of 2019 can be carried forward in the Netherlands for six years.  

 

 

35. Trade and other payables  

 

 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on approximately 85-day terms. 

Post-date cheques payable are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 90-days. 

 

 

36. Accrued and other current liabilities 

 

 

All current liabilities fall due in less than one year. The fair value of the current liabilities approximates the 

book value due to its short-term character.  

 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Trade payables 43,505,480       49,244,628       

Post dated cheques payable 1,561                23,087              

Total 43,507,041    49,267,715    

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Sales and other taxes due 1,104,109         1,238,328         

Dividends due 3,060,261         2,552,000         

Finance costs accrued 723,710            3,159,688         

Provision for price reconciliations 14,204,922       18,254,425       

Accruals 6,640,935         4,491,435         

Other current liabilities 1,689,893         1,575,969         

Total 27,423,830       31,271,845       
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37. Financial assets by category  

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 

  

 

 

38. Financial liabilities by category  

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 

  

Comparative figures have been adjusted netting off a trade partner’s balances in Other Receivables and 

Trade Accounts Payable for comparability purposes with current year. 

 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Non current financial assets at amortized cost

Guarantees 447,230            427,447            

Advances for CAPEX 1,825,909         1,491,159         

2,273,139       1,918,606       

Current financial assets at amortized cost

Trade accounts receivable 39,114,785       36,013,827       

Finance Cost prepaid and receivable 156,868            73,967              

Accruals 3,056,131         2,711,512         

Other Loans provided 695,196            699,087            

Other short term receivables 10,735,103       10,589,865       

53,758,083     50,088,258     

Total: 56,031,222     52,006,864     

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Trade payables 43,507,041 49,267,715

Dividends due 3,060,261 2,552,000

Finance costs accrued 723,710 3,159,647

Provision for price reconciliations 14,204,922 18,254,425

Accruals 6,748,138 3,545,490

Other current liabilities 1,689,893 1,575,969

ST Interest - bearing loans and borrowings 1,500,000 1,000,000

LT Interest - bearing loans and borrowings 158,620,297 163,000,409

Short-term loans 8,000,000 -

Total 238,054,261 242,355,654 
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39. Contingencies and commitments 

For corporate income tax purposes, Pharmathen Global B.V and Pharmathen Global Holding BV are a fiscal 

unity as of 1 January 2018. Pursuant to the collection corporate income tax, the Group and its Group are 

both severally and jointly liable for the tax payable by the combination. 

Unaudited tax years for the Group as at December 31, 2019 are analysed as follows: 

 

 

The Group has no other contingent liabilities as at December 31, 2019, while guarantees relate to public 

sector utilities used by the group for the amount of € 157,253 (2018: € 155,803) and € 205,038 (2018: € 

198,358) for rental agreements. In addition to these, the Group has issued letters of guarantee for an 

amount of approximately € 2,7 million bank guarantees provided to customs for importation of ethyl 

alcohol. For 2019 the Group had issued letter of guarantees of € 12.6 million. 

 

40. Related parties 

 

All legal entities that can be controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced are considered to be 

a related party. Also, entities which can control the Group are considered a related party. In addition, 

statutory and supervisory directors and close relatives are regarded as related parties. 

The sales to and purchases from related parties are made at terms equivalent to those that prevail in 

arm’s length transactions. Outstanding balances at the year-end will be settled in cash. For the period 

ended December 31, 2019, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts 

owed by related parties. This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the 

financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates. 

The following transactions were carried out with related parties during the period: 

 Key management compensation (refer to note 22). 

 Intercompany sales and purchases with group companies that have been eliminated on 

consolidation are as follows:  

Company Unaudited Financial Periods

Pharmathen International SA 2010
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 Intercompany trade payables and trade receivables between group companies that have been 

eliminated on consolidation are as follows:  

 

 

 

 

Pharmathen Holding 4 Ltd: 

A UK based holding entity, part of the investment structure that was set up and used as an investment 

vehicle by Funds advised by BC Partners to acquire an effective interest of 80% in the share capital of 

Pharmathen SA in August 2015.  

 

Pharmathen Global BV:  

In the context of the New Operating Model adopted by the Pharmathen Group in August 2017, 

Pharmathen Global BV became the B2B sales and marketing and business development hub of 

Pharmathen Group for international B2B customers. The Company is also leading all the strategic decision 

2019

Pharmathen 

Holding BV

Pharmathen Global 

BV
Pharmathen S.A

Pharmathen 

International S.A
Adventus India Pharmathen UK Total

Pharmathen Global BV -                            -                            103,650,358             -                            -                            1,137,104                 104,787,462          

Pharmathen S.A -                            -                            -                            38,965,695               144,225                    1,020,009                 40,129,929             

Pharmathen International S.A -                            -                            540,341                    -                            -                            -                            540,341                  

-                           -                           104,190,698          38,965,695             144,225                  2,157,114               145,457,732          

2018

Pharmathen 

Holding BV

Pharmathen Global 

BV
Pharmathen S.A

Pharmathen 

International S.A
Adventus India Pharmathen UK Total

Pharmathen Global BV -                            -                            89,268,776               -                            -                            995,132                    90,263,908             

Pharmathen S.A -                            -                            -                            33,515,137               187,097                    999,113                    34,701,347             

Pharmathen International S.A -                            -                            328,127                    -                            20,080                      -                            348,207                  

-                           -                           89,596,903             33,515,137             207,176                  1,994,246               125,313,461          

Sales

P
u

r
c
h

a
se

s
P

u
r
c
h

a
se

s

Sales

Receivables/(Payables)

Pharmathen Global 

Holding BV

Pharmathen Global 

BV
Pharmathen S.A

Pharmathen 

International S.A

Pharmathen 

Investments Group
Total

Pharmathen Global Holding BV -                          445,634                  -                          -                          -                          445,634                  

Pharmathen Global BV (445,634)                 -                          5,469,755               (123,031)                 -                          4,901,090               

Pharmathen S.A -                          (5,469,755)              -                          (2,831,920)              (1,853)                     (8,303,528)              

Pharmathen International S.A -                          123,031                  2,831,921               -                          -                          2,954,952               

Pharmathen Investments Group -                          -                          1,853                      -                          -                          1,853                      

(445,634)                 (4,901,090)              8,303,528               (2,954,951)              (1,853)                     0                             

31.12.2019

Receivables/(Payables)

Pharmathen 

Holding BV

Pharmathen Global 

BV
Pharmathen S.A

Pharmathen 

International S.A
Adventus India Total

Pharmathen Global BV -                          -                          8,457,196               (123,031)                 -                          8,334,165               

Pharmathen S.A -                          (8,457,196)              -                          2,559,560               574,254                  (5,323,382)              

Pharmathen International S.A -                          123,031                  (2,559,560)              -                          20,199                    (2,416,330)              

Adventus India -                          -                          (574,254)                 (20,199)                   -                          (594,453)                 

-                          (8,334,165)              5,323,382               2,416,330               594,452                  -                          

31.12.2018
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making of the Group with respect to Research and Development of new products, commercial terms and 

policies and Group investing and financing.  

The Company engages with Pharmathen SA for:  

a. the supply of products and R&D services as well as  

b. the provision of administration services. 

The Company also engages with Pharmathen UK Ltd. For the provision of sales support services. In the 

context of its marketing and distribution operations, the Company rents a third party logistics warehouse 

in Maarssen, Netherlands. 

The headquarters of the Company are located in Amstelveen, at Van Heuven Goedhartlaan 9 and its total 

number of employees as of December 31, 2019 stood at 9 people.  

 

Pharmathen SA: 

Founded in 1969 by Nicolaos Katsos, It has become a leading European complex Generics Company with 

a R&D focused and a vertically integrated B2B model. 

Its business portfolio is well diversified by geography, customer and technology 

Following the adoption of the New Operating Model, Pharmathen SA has been gradually assigning its 

commercial contracts with international B2B customers to Pharmathen Global BV. Pharmathen SA 

continues to hold all the IP rights of existing and new products and provide R&D services under 

instructions from the Pharmathen Global BV. 

Its business activities also include:   

❖ Manufacturing of products at the Pallini, Athens plant 

❖ Selling products to Pharmathen Global BV as well as Greek B2B market and small size  

international B2B customers 

❖ Provision of back office services under Service Level Agreement to the Pharmathen Global BV 

(customer services, QA, QC, regulatory, accounting, reporting, legal, IT, HR etc.) 

 

Pharmathen International SA:  

It owns and operates production facilities in Sapes, Northern Greece. It manufactures products for 

Pharmathen SA under a CMO contract. In October 2017, the production lines of the plant for solid form 

(tablets & capsules) and injectable medicines, passed the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 

inspection.  

Pharmathen UK Ltd.: 

It is a UK based entity that mainly employs the sales and business development staff supporting the 

international B2B business of the Group. It offers sales support services to Pharmathen Global BV and 

Pharmathen SA with respect to international B2B customers.   

 

Adventus India:  
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It is an India based entity offering R&D services to Pharmathen SA. Group management has decided in 

2018 to dispose the operations of Adventus India by selling its shares. Adventus India has been disposed 

in December 2019. 

 

41. Events after the reporting period 

 

Management evaluated its December 31, 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements for subsequent events 

through the date the Consolidated Financial Statements were issued.  

The Covid-19 outbreak has developed rapidly into a pandemic in 2020. Measures taken by various 

governments to contain the virus have affected the broader economic environment. In response to the 

above, we have taken a number of measures to monitor and prevent the effects of the Covid-19 virus on 

our people and business; safety and health measures for our people included social distancing, keeping a 

portion of our manufacturing workforce in reserve and working from home while measures to protect the 

business included securing the supply of materials that are essential to our production process and 

maintaining our production facilities in operation. 

At this stage, the impact on our business and financial performance is limited. We will continue to follow 

the national authorities’ policies and advice and in parallel will do our utmost to continue our operations 

in the best and safest way possible without jeopardizing the health of our people. We also refer to the 

‘Uncertainty related to the effects of the coronavirus (Covid-19) on our business’ section in note 1 in the 

financial statements. 

Other than the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic, no other events of particular significance took place 

after December 31, 2019, that could be expected to have a material effect on the earnings, asset and 

financial position of the Group. 
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42. Changes in Accounting Policies 

 

This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases on the group’s financial statements. The 

accounting policies are described in Note 6.20. The group has adopted IFRS 16 Leases retrospectively from 

1 January 2019 but has not restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period, as permitted under the 

specific transition provisions in the standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the 

new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the opening balance sheet on 1 January 2019. 

 

Adjustments recognized on adoption of IFRS 16 

On adoption of IFRS 16, the group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously 

been classified as “operating leases” under the principles of IAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were measured 

at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental 

borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019. The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied 

to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 is 4.28%. The change in accounting policy affected the balance 

sheet on 1 January 2019 with an equal increase in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities by of € 5,911,401. 

 

 

Measurement of lease liabilities 

 
 

Measurement of right-of-use assets 

The associated right-of-use assets for property and vehicles leases were measured at the amount equal 

to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that 

lease recognised in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018. 

 

 

Practical expedients applied 

In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the group has used the following practical expedients permitted by 

the standard with respect to leases previously classified as operating leases in accordance with IAS 17: 

• applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics 

• excluding initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial 

application, and 

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 December 2018           6,966,813 

Leases previously not included              129,616 

The effect of discounting using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019            (799,135)

Adjustments as a result of a different treatment of extension and termination            (385,894)

Lease liability recognised as at January 1, 2019           5,911,401 

of which:

Current lease liabilities           1,115,646 

Non-current lease liabilities           4,795,755 

          5,911,401 
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• using hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or 

terminate the lease. 

 

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial 

application. Instead, for contracts entered into before the transition the group relied on its assessment 

made applying IAS 17 and Interpretation 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”. 

 

For details on the movement of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities during the financial year 2019 

refer to note 24. 
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Company statement of Profit and Loss for the period ended December 31, 2019 

 

 

 
  

2019 2018

Administrative expenses (140,098)             (120,380)            

Operating loss (140,098)             (120,380)            

Financial income 31,231                30,792               

Financial expenses (1,099)                 (808)                   

Loss before income taxes (109,966)             (90,396)              

Loss for the period (109,966)             (90,396)              
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Company statement of Other Comprehensive Income for the period ended December 31, 2019 

 

 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Loss for the year (109.966)            (90.396)              

Net other comprehensive loss to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: -                     -                     

Net other comprehensive loss not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: -                     -                     

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax -                     -                     

Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (109.966)            (90.396)              

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent (109.966)            (90.396)              
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Company statement of Financial Position for the period ended December 31, 2019 

 

(After appropriation of net result) 

 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 303.119.673       303.119.673      

Long term Intragroup Loans Receivable 500.000              500.000             

Total non-current assets 303.619.673       303.619.673      

Current assets

Other receivables 64.935                59.877               

Cash and cash equivalents 73.328                49.853               

138.263              109.730             

Assets held for distribution

Total current assets 138.263              109.730             

TOTAL ASSETS 303.757.936       303.729.403      

EQUITY & LIABILITIES

Issued capital 32.181.967         32.181.967        

Share premium 271.457.706       271.457.706      

Retained earnings (327.458)             (217.492)            

Total equity 303.312.215       303.422.181      

Current liabilities

Trade accounts payable 445.634              307.180             

Accrued and other current liabilities 86                       41                      

Total current liabilities 445.720              307.222             

TOTAL LIABILITIES 445.720              307.222             

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 303.757.936       303.729.403      
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Company statement of Cash Flows for the period ended December 31, 2019 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Operating activities

Profit before income taxes (109,966)          (90,396)           

Non - cash adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:

Finance income (31,231)              (30,792)              

Finance costs 1,099                 808                    

Operating profit before working capital changes (140,098)          (120,380)          

Increase/(Decrease) in:

Trade and other accounts receivable 4,625                 (50,633)              

Trade and other accounts payable 220,539             171,014             

Net cash flows from operating activities 85,066             -                    

Financing activities

Payment of finance costs (61,590)              30,025               

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (61,590)            30,025             

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 23,476             30,025             

Opening Cash and cash equivalents balance: 49,853               19,827            

Closing Cash and cash equivalents balance: 73,328             49,853             

Amounts in €
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NOTES TO THE CORPORATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

1.  General Information 

 

The company financial statements are part of the financial statements of Pharmathen Global Holding 

B.V. (hereafter: the company). The Company is located in Amstelveen, the Netherlands. 

These are the company’s standalone financial statements. The financial year covers the period from 1 

January 2019 to 31 December 2019. 

All amounts in the notes to the financial statements are stated in Euros, unless otherwise stated 

 

Principles for the measurement of assets and liabilities and the determination of the result 

 

The company financial statements of Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. have been prepared in 

accordance with Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. In accordance with sub article 8 of article 362, 

Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the company's financial statements are prepared based on the 

accounting principles of recognition, measurement and determination of profit, as applied in the 

consolidated financial statements. These principles also include the classification and presentation of 

financial instruments, being equity instruments or financial liabilities. 

The company prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS') as adopted by the European Union. In case no other policies are 

mentioned, refer to the accounting policies as described in the accounting policies in the consolidated 

financial statements of this Annual Report. For an appropriate interpretation, the company financial 

statements of Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. should be read in conjunction with the consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

 

Investments in subsidiaries 

 

Financial fixed assets refer to investments in consolidated subsidiaries. Investments in consolidated 

subsidiaries are entities over which the company has control, i.e. the power to govern the financial and 

operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. 

Subsidiaries are recognised from the date on which control is transferred to the company or its 

intermediate holding entities. They are derecognised from the date that control ceases. 

Investments in consolidated subsidiaries are measured at cost. 

The carrying value of investments is tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. Whenever a carrying value of an investment 
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exceeds its recoverable amount of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. The 

recoverable amount is measured as the higher or fair value less cost to sell and the value in use of the 

investment. Fair value less cost to sell is the price that would be received to sell the investment in an 

orderly transaction between market participants, after deducting any direct incremental costs, while 

value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from continuing use 

the investment. 

 

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make assumptions, estimates and 

judgments that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related 

disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates 

could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities 

affected in future periods. On an ongoing basis management evaluates its estimates including those 

related to impairment of property, plant and equipment, impairment of intangible assets, useful lives of 

depreciable assets, deferred income tax assets, development costs, provision for income taxes, 

provision for doubtful debts, provision for staff retirement indemnities, provision for inventories and 

price reconciliations. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other 

assumptions that are believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the bases for making 

judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily available from other 

sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The 

key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 

date, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 

Impairment of subsidiaries carried at cost 

 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable 

amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less 

costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at 

arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs of disposing of the 

asset.  
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3. Audit fees  

For more detailed information about the audit fees, reference is made to Audit fees in the consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

4. Average number of employees 

During the year 2019, the average number of employees calculated on a full – time equivalent basis was 

nil (2018: nil). 

 

 

5. Investment in subsidiary 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Pharmathen Global BV, on their turn, have investments in the following companies: 

 
 

For transactions between entities under common control please refer to Note 3 Basis of Consolidation in 

the Consolidated Financial Statements of Pharmathen Global Holding B.V.  

 

Name of the Company Country of incorporation 31.12.2019 31.12.2018 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Pharmathen Global BV Netherlands 100.0% 100.0% 303,119,673    303,119,673    

% of Direct & Indirect 

interest in Subsidiary Carrying amount

Investment in 

subsidiary

Balance January 1, 2018 303,119,673          

Movement in books value 2018

Movement -                         

Balance December 31, 2018 303,119,673          

Investment in 

subsidiary

Balance January 1, 2019 303,119,673          

Movement in books value 2019

Movement -                         

Balance December 31, 2019
303,119,673          

Company Name Country of domicile Country of Incorporation

Principal place of 

business

%  of direct & 

indirect interest

Shareholders' equity 

according to the latest 

adopted financial 

statements:

Profit or loss for the year 

according to the latest 

adopted financial 

statements:

Pharmathen SA Greece Greece Greece 100.00% 91,035,567 € 21,573,889 €

Pharmathen International SA Greece Greece Greece 99.99% 36,620,734 € 1,808,788 €

Pharmathen Development Ltd Cyprus Cyprus Cyprus 99.50% 14,491,253 € -300,492 €

Pharmathen Investments Group Ltd Cyprus Cyprus Cyprus 100.00% 408,037 € -20,160 €

Pharmathen UK Ltd UK UK UK 100.00% 14,654,498 € 58,077 €
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6. Loan receivable from group companies  

 

 
 

All inter-group receivables, with exemption of an amount of EUR 500,000, fall due in less than one year. 

The fair value approximates the book value. The fair value of the receivables approximates the carrying 

amount. 

 

Following the completion of the Group refinancing, the Company along with Pharmathen Global BV 
granted an I/G loan of € 55.9m in the form of bond loan to Pharmathen SA in three tranches under the 
following terms: 
 

• Total loan granted at € 55.9m (€ 55.4m from Pharmathen Global BV and € 0.5m from the Company) 

• The rate of interest on each Bond for each of the interest periods shall be the aggregate of the 
Company’s borrowings Cost plus a fixed spread of 90bps. (i.e. 6.07%). 

• 12 – month interest period 

• 6 years duration Repayment as bullet after year 6 (2023) 
 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Long - term inter - group loans receivable 500,000        500,000        

Interest Receivable on inter - group loans receivable 9,244            9,244            

Total 509,244        509,244        

Of which

Non -  current assets 500,000        500,000        

Current assets 9,244            9,244            

509,244        509,244        
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7. Cash and cash equivalents  

 

All cash and cash equivalents are at the company’s free disposal. 

 

 
 

 

8. Equity  

 

Share capital 

The authorised share capital of Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. of EUR 32,181,967 is divided into 

32,181,967 ordinary shares, fully paid-up, with a par value of EUR 1 each. 

 

Share premium 

The share premium reserve comprises the excess received on shares issued above their nominal value. 

 

The movements in the shareholders’ equity are as follows:  

 

 
 

31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Cash at banks 73.328               49.853               

Total 73.328               49.853               

 Share Capital  Share Premium  Retained Earnings  Total Equity 

Balance January 1, 2018 32.181.967               271.457.706             (127.095)                   303.512.578             

Profit for the year -                            -                            (90.396)                     (90.396)                     

Balance  December 31, 2018 32.181.967               271.457.706             (217.492)                   303.422.181             

Balance January 1, 2018 32.181.967               271.457.706             (217.492)                   303.422.181             

Profit for the year -                            -                            (109.966)                   (109.966)                   

Balance  December 31, 2018 32.181.967               271.457.706             (327.458)                   303.312.215             
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The difference between equity in the consolidated statement of financial position and the corporate 

statement of financial position is presented below: 

 

 
 

Proposed appropriation of result 

Following the appropriation of result proposed by the board of directors and pursuant to article 24.1 of 

the articles of association. The proposal for the profit is to add the entire profit to the retained earnings. 

 

 

9. Accrued and other current liabilities 

 

 
 

All current liabilities fall due in less than one year. The fair value of the current liabilities approximates the 

book value due to its short-term character.  

 

 

10. Commitments and contingencies  

 

For corporate income tax purposes, Pharmathen Global B.V and Pharmathen Global Holding BV are a fiscal 

unity as of 1 January 2018. Pursuant to the collection corporate income tax, the Group and its Group are 

both severally and jointly liable for the tax payable by the combination. 

 

In the financial statements of Pharmathen Global B.V. tax expenses are calculated on the basis of the 

commercial result realised by Pharmathen Global B.V. Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. and Pharmathen 

Global B.V. settle these expenses through their intercompany (current) accounts.  

 

As at December 31, 2019, the company has fiscal losses to be offset against future profits for corporate 

tax purposes. The period in which these fiscal losses can be settled with future profitable activities is 

restricted to 9 years. However, no deferred tax assets claim on that amount is recorded for the sake of 

prudence.  

 Share 

Capital 

 Share 

Premium 

 Other 

Reserves 

 Retained 

Earnings 

 Other 

Components 

of Equity 

 Total 

 Non 

Controlling 

Interests 

 Total Equity 

Parent Equity 32,181,967    271,457,706   -                   (327,458)         -                   303,312,215   -                   303,312,215   

Post acquisition Group Earnings -                   -                     -                   77,369,386    (1,590,607)    75,778,779      80,575            75,859,354      

Transfer to Other Reserves -                   -                     7,843,725      (7,843,725)     -                   -                     -                   -                     

Post Acquisition Subsidies Received -                   -                     -                   -                   -                     -                   -                     

Group Equity 32,181,967    271,457,706   7,843,725      69,198,204    (1,590,607)    379,090,994   80,575            379,171,569   

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Accruals 86                      41                      

Total 86                      41                      
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11. Events after the reporting period 

 

Management evaluated its December 31, 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements for subsequent events 

through the date the Consolidated Financial Statements were issued.  

The Covid-19 outbreak has developed rapidly into a pandemic in 2020. Measures taken by various 

governments to contain the virus have affected the broader economic environment. In response to the 

above, we have taken a number of measures to monitor and prevent the effects of the Covid-19 virus on 

our people and business; safety and health measures for our people included social distancing, keeping a 

portion of our manufacturing workforce in reserve and working from home while measures to protect the 

business included securing the supply of materials that are essential to our production process and 

maintaining our production facilities in operation. 

At this stage, the impact on our business and financial performance is limited. We will continue to follow 

the national authorities’ policies and advice and in parallel will do our utmost to continue our operations 

in the best and safest way possible without jeopardizing the health of our people. We also refer to the 

‘Uncertainty related to the effects of the coronavirus (Covid-19) on our business’ section in note 1 in the 

financial statements. 

Other than the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic, no other events of particular significance took place 

after December 31, 2019, that could be expected to have a material effect on the earnings, asset and 

financial position of the Group. 
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Authorization of the financial statements 

Amsterdam, 30 April 2020 

 

Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. 

Board of Directors 
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Max Hendrik Kastka 

 

 

Matthew George Evans 

 

 

Vasileios Katsos 

 

 

Eleni Katsou 
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Other information 

Articles of association governing profit appropriation 

 

Article 12.3 of the articles of association of the company mentions that the general meeting annualy 

appropiates the profits. Subject to article 24.1, the general meeting is authorized to appropiate the 

profits, which are determined by adoption of the annual accounts and to determine distribution, in as 

far as the shareholders’ equity of the company exceeds the reserves which must be maintained 

pursuant to the law. 
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Independent auditor’s report 
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30 April 2020 

To: the general meeting of Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. 
  

 

Report on the financial statements 2019 
  

Our opinion 
In our opinion: 
• the consolidated financial statements of Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. together with its 

subsidiaries (‘the Group’) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 
31 December 2019 and of its result and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and 
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code; 

• the company financial statements of Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. (‘the Company’) give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and of its 
result for the year then ended in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

What we have audited 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2019 of Pharmathen Global Holding B.V., 
Amstelveen. The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements of the Group and 
the company financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements comprise: 
• the consolidated statement of profit and loss for the year ended 31 December 2019; 
• the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income for the year ended 

31 December 2019; 
• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019; 
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2019; 
• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 31 December 2019; and 
• the notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

The company financial statements comprise: 
• the company statement of profit and loss for the period ended 31 December 2019; 
• the company statement of other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2019; 
• the company statement of financial position for the period ended 31 December 2019; 
• the company statement of cash flows for the period ended 31 December 2019; and 
• the notes, comprising the accounting policies applied and other explanatory information. 
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The financial reporting framework applied in the preparation of the financial statements is EU-IFRS 
and the relevant provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code for the consolidated financial 
statements and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code for the company financial statements. 

  

The basis for our opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. 
We have further described our responsibilities under those standards in the section 
‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. in accordance with the ‘Wet toezicht 
accountantsorganisaties’ (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the ‘Verordening inzake de 
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assuranceopdrachten’ (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence 
requirements in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the ‘Verordening gedrags- en 
beroepsregels accountants’ (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics). 

  

Emphasis of matter - uncertainty related to the effects of the 
coronavirus (COVID-19) 
We draw attention to the ‘Uncertainty related to the effects of the coronavirus (Covid-19) on our 
business’ section in note 1 in the financial statements in which the board of directors has described the 
possible impact and consequences of the coronavirus (COVID-19) on the company and the 
environment in which the company operates as well as the measures taken and planned to deal with 
these events or circumstances. This note also indicates that uncertainties remain and that currently it 
is not reasonably possible to estimate the future impact. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter. 

 

Report on the other information included in the annual report 
  

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report contains 
other information that consists of: 
• the directors’ report; 
• the other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

Based on the procedures performed as set out below, we conclude that the other information: 
• is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements; 
• contains the information that is required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained in our audit 
of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains 
material misstatements. 
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By performing our procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 
Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of such procedures was substantially less than the scope 
of those performed in our audit of the financial statements. 

The board of directors is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the 
directors’ report and the other information in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 
Code. 

  

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 
  

Responsibilities of the board of directors 
The board of directors is responsible for: 
• the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS 

and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code; and for 
• such internal control as the board of directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation 

of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the board of directors is responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting 
frameworks mentioned, the board of directors should prepare the financial statements using the 
going-concern basis of accounting unless the board of directors either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The board of directors 
should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern in the financial statements. 

  

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our responsibility is to plan and perform an audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain 
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion. Our objectives are to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high but not absolute level of assurance, which makes it possible that we 
may not detect all material misstatements. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are 
considered to be material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

Materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the 
effect of identified misstatements on our opinion. 

A more detailed description of our responsibilities is set out in the appendix to our report. 

Eindhoven, 30 April 2020 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. 

Original has been signed by R.M.N. Admiraal RA 
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Appendix to our auditor’s report on the financial statements 
2019 of Pharmathen Global Holding B.V. 
  

In addition to what is included in our auditor’s report, we have further set out in this appendix our 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements and explained what an audit involves. 

The auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout 
the audit in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence 
requirements. Our audit consisted, among other things of the following: 
• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the intentional override of internal control. 

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the board of directors. 

• Concluding on the appropriateness of the board of directors’ use of the going-concern basis of 
accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, concluding whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events and/or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report 
and are made in the context of our opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Considering our ultimate responsibility for the opinion on the consolidated financial statements, we 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. In this context, we 
have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures for components of the Group to ensure 
that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 
Determining factors are the geographic structure of the Group, the significance and/or risk profile of 
group entities or activities, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group 
operates. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review of financial information 
or specific balances was considered necessary. 

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
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